Alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses' memory Angelica Hagsand



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

© Angelica Hagsand Cover art purchased from iStockphoto: ©iStock.com/A-Digit/4x6/Magcom Printed in Sweden by INEKO. Gothenburg, 2014 ISSN: 1101-718X ISBN: 978-91-628-9017-9 ISRN: GU/PSYK/AVH--299—SE

For the e-published version of this thesis please visit: http://hdl.handle.net/2077/35671

Abstract

Hagsand, A. (2014). *Alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses' memory*. Department of Psychology, University of Gothenburg, Sweden.

Eyewitnesses are an important source of information in many criminal investigations. However, the memory of an eyewitness is not always accurate, and errors may occur that have serious consequences. Alcohol-related crimes are common, and therefore, intoxicated witnesses are common. However, only a handful of published studies have described how alcohol affects eyewitnesses' memory.

The overall aim of the research described in this thesis was to examine how alcohol affects eyewitnesses' memory. The thesis comprises three studies, which followed similar general procedures. The participants in the studies consumed an alcoholic or non-alcoholic beverage during a 15-minute period and then witnessed a film that depicting a staged kidnapping. The retention interval and recall format varied between the studies. The aim of Study I was to examine the influence of alcohol on eyewitnesses' performances in a line-up setting. The participants (N = 123) were randomly assigned to a 3 (Beverage: control [0.0 g/kg] versus lower alcohol dosage [0.4 g/kg] group versus higher alcohol dosage [0.7 g/kg] group) × 2 (Line-up: target-present versus targetabsent) between-subject design. One week after alcohol intoxication and the critical event, the participants were exposed to the line-up. The results showed no significant difference between the groups in terms of performance in the line-up, under either the target-present or the target-absent condition. In general, the participants performed better than chance at identifying the culprit. However, all witnesses performed quite poorly. Study II (N = 126) examined the effects of alcohol (Beverage: control [0.0 g/kg] versus lower alcohol dosage [0.4 g/kg] group versus higher alcohol dosage [0.7 g/kg] group) on the amount of information reported (completeness) and accuracy rate. There was no difference in the completeness between the control group and the higher alcohol dosage group or between the control group and the lower alcohol dosage group. When comparing the two alcohol groups, participants in the higher alcohol dosage group remembered fewer details than those in the lower alcohol dosage group. No differences were found between the beverage groups in recall accuracy. The aim of Study III (N = 99) was to elucidate the best time to interview intoxicated witnesses. Participants were randomly assigned to a 2 (Beverage: control [0.0 g/kg] versus alcohol dosage [0.7 g/kg] group) $\times 2$ (Recall: repeatedly, i.e., immediate plus delayed interviews versus single, i.e., delayed interview only) mixed design. Overall, alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses produced less accurate testimonies than the sober witnesses. Although the difference was significant, the intoxicated witnesses were only slightly less accurate in their recollections. Both the sober and the intoxicated witnesses recalled details with a relatively high accuracy. There was no difference with regards to the amount of information reported between the intoxicated and the sober witnesses. An immediate interview was more beneficial than a delayed interview. However, the best recall was by witnesses who were interviewed twice, and this was true for both the sober and the intoxicated witnesses. New details provided at the second interview, by either group, were often correct.

In summary, this thesis shows that alcohol consumption does not have a negative effect on either witness's line-up performance (recognition) or on the amount of information reported during investigative interviews (recall). However, the accuracy of their recall was slightly impaired by consumption of alcohol (Study III). This thesis shows that representatives of the legal system may expect that witnesses with low to moderate intoxication (blood alcohol concentration <0.10%) will perform at approximately the same level as sober witnesses. It is however reasonable to assume that more profound memory impairments can be expected for witnesses with higher intoxication levels.

Key words: alcohol, intoxication, eyewitnesses, memory, recognition, recall, line-up, interview *Angelica Hagsand, Department of Psychology, University of Gothenburg, Box 500, 405 30 Gothenburg, Sweden. Phone:* +46 31 786 18 53, *E-mail: angelica.hagsand@psy.gu.se*

ISSN: 1101-718X

ISBN: 978-91-628-9017-9 ISRN: GU/PSYK/AVH--299--SE

Svensk sammanfattning

För att rättsväsendet ska kunna klara upp brott är ögonvittnen viktiga, och ibland den enda informationskällan (t.ex. Fisher, 1995; Fisher & Schreiber, 2007; Wells & Olson, 2003). Det är förekommande att polisen genomför en intervju med ett vittne redan på brottsplatsen, men ibland sker intervjun först efter en tid. Ibland arrangerar polisen även en vittneskonfrontation där vittnet antingen får titta på personer (live-konfrontation) eller på ett antal foton (foto-konfrontation) för att försöka identifiera gärningspersonen (Evans, Schreiber Compo, & Russano, 2009). Allmänheten får lätt uppfattningen utifrån filmer och TV-serier att brott bäst löses med hjälp av DNA teknik eller förmågan hos en extraordinärt skicklig utredare, men i själva verket är vittnesmål den viktigaste informationskällan i brottsutredningar (Granhag, Ask, & Mac Giolla, 2013). Det är ett erkänt faktum att vittnen kan minnas fel, något som ibland kan få mycket allvarliga konsekvenser (Kassin & Gudjonsson, 2004). Ett felaktigt vittnesmål kan bidra till att en person döms för ett brott som denne inte har begått (Wells & Olson, 2003).En faktor som kan påverka vittnets minne är om han eller hon var alkoholpåverkad vid bevittnandet av brottet (Granhag et al., 2013).

I västvärlden är alkoholrelaterade brott vanliga. Med detta avses brott där gärningsmannen, offret eller eventuella vittnen är under alkoholpåverkan. I Sverige är ca 50-70 % av alla våldsbrott alkoholrelaterade (Eksten, 2007; Ekström, 2009). Det senaste decenniet har alkoholkonsumtionen ökat, vilket också gör det rimligt att anta att även de alkoholrelaterade brotten har ökat (Centralförbundet för alkohol- och narkotikaupplysning, 2008).

Vad visar då forskningen om hur alkohol påverkar ögonvittnens minne? Det finns endast en handfull studier som uppmärksammat detta ämne och kunskapen är därför mycket begränsad (Evans et al., 2009; Malpass et al., 2008). Däremot finns det god kunskap om hur alkohol påverkar vårt minne rent generellt. Överlag kan man säga att alkohol påverkar minnet negativt, speciellt vid hög alkoholkonsumtionen. Konsumtion av en stor mängd alkohol under kort tid kan till och med framkalla alkoholrelaterad amnesi. Detta tar sig uttryck via antingen en blackout (total minnesförlust) eller en grayout (fragmentarisk minnesförlust) (Alderazi & Brett, 2007; Lee, Roh, & Kim, 2009). Det är inte nödvändigtvis så att den forskning som fokuserar på hur alkohol påverkar minnet generellt kan användas för att bedöma hur alkohol påverkar pålitligheten hos ögonvittnen. Till exempel kan det vara skrämmande och ångestframkallande att bevittna ett allvarligt brott och detta kan i sin tur påverka inkodningen och därmed också hur personen i fråga minns händelsen (Chae, 2010; Penrod, Fulero, & Cutler, 1995). Det är viktigt att vi bättre förstår hur alkohol påverkar vittnens minne eftersom det i förlängningen kan vara värdefullt både för polisens utredningar och för förhandlingar i domstol.

Föreliggande avhandling består av tre experimentella studier, där respektive studie undersökte minnesförmågan hos ögonvittnen som varit alkoholpåverkade vid bevittnandet av ett iscensatt brott. Studierna baserades på deltagare från experiment som genomfördes i ett human experimentellt laboratorium vid Sahlgrenska universitetssjukhuset i Göteborg. Innan deltagare blev inkluderade i experimentet fick de genomgå en läkarundersökning samt en undersökning av deras mentala hälsa och endast de som hade en god fysisk och mental hälsa inkluderades i studierna. Deltagarna fördelades slumpmässigt till att antingen få dricka juice (kontrollgrupp), en lägre dos av alkohol (0.4 g/kg) eller en högre dos av alkohol (0.7 g/kg). I Studie I och Studie II användes de två olika doserna av alkohol, i Studie III användes endast den högre dosen. Deltagarna medverkade gruppvis i ett laboratorium som var inrett som ett vardagsrum. De hade 15 minuter på sig att konsumera sin dryck. Därefter fick de titta på en film som använts i tidigare vittnespsykologiska studier (t.ex. Allwood, Granhag, & Jonsson, 2006; Granhag, 1997). Filmen visade ett iscensatt brott där en kvinna kidnappas av två män. En vecka senare fick deltagarna genomföra en vittneskonfrontation (Studie I) och en intervju (Studie II), i nyktert tillstånd. Deltagarna i Studie III genomgick samma procedur, men nu blev hälften av deltagarna intervjuade omedelbart efter händelsen, d.v.s. när de fortfarande var under alkoholpåverkan. Alla deltagare i studien blev sedan intervjuade i nyktert tillstånd en vecka efter brottet.

Syftet med **Studie I** (N = 123) var att undersöka om alkohol påverkade vittnens förmåga att identifiera huvudgärningsmannen i en fotokonfrontation. Deltagarna fördelades över en kontrollgrupp (N = 41), en grupp med en lägre dos av alkohol (N= 42) och en grupp med en högre dos av alkohol (N = 40). Hälften av deltagarna i varje grupp fick se en fotokonfrontation där gärningsmannens foto var med (targetpresent). Resterande hälft fick se en konfrontation där gärningsmannens foto inte var med (target-absent). Resultaten visade att grad av alkoholpåverkan vid bevittnandet av brottet inte påverkade hur väl vittnena presterade i vittneskonfrontationen. Grupperna presterade generellt sett bättre än slumpen. Det betyder att de som fick se konfrontationen med gärningsmannens foto lyckades peka ut honom i en större utsträckning än vad slumpen gett. Deltagarna som fick ta del av en konfrontation där gärningsmannens foto inte fanns med var bättre på att avgöra att hans foto inte var där, jämfört med vad slumpen gett. Trots detta var det relativt få vittnen som lyckades fatta ett korrekt beslut vid vittneskonfrontationen, och då även de vittnen som varit nyktra när de bevittnade brottet. Resultaten visar hur svårt det ibland kan vara för ögonvittnen att fatta ett korrekt beslut under ett konfrontationsförhör.

Studie II bestod av 126 deltagare, fördelade i en kontrollgrupp (N = 42), en grupp med en lägre dos av alkohol (N = 40), och en grupp med en högre dos av alkohol (N = 44). Syftet med studien var att undersöka hur alkohol påverkade vittnens minne. Minnesprestationen mättes genom att undersöka hur många detaljer (fullständighet) vittnena mindes från kidnappningen, samt hur korrekt deras berättelse var. Alla deltagare intervjuades en vecka efter händelsen i nyktert tillstånd. Intervjuerna transkriberades och kodades innan analyserna utfördes. Huvudfynden visade att det inte var någon skillnad i antalet berättade detaljer mellan de nyktra vittnena i kontrollgruppen och vittnena i gruppen med den högre dosen av alkohol, ej heller mellan kontrollgruppen och gruppen med lägre dos av alkohol. När man däremot jämförde de två alkoholdoserna mindes vittnena som fått den lägre dosen av alkohol. När det gällde hur korrekta vittnena var i deras vittnesmål så var det ingen skillnad mellan de olika grupperna.

Studie III bestod av 99 deltagare som var fördelade över en kontrollgrupp (N =48) och en grupp med en högre dos av alkohol (N = 51). Precis som i Studie II var syftet att undersöka hur alkohol påverkade vittnenas minne med avseende på fullständighet och korrekthet, dock var frågeställningen något mer specifik; när är det bäst att interviua alkoholpåverkade vittnen? Studie III gick utöver Studie II genom att hälften av deltagarna intervjuades under alkoholpåverkan direkt efter brottet, samt att alla deltagare intervjuades i nyktert tillstånd en vecka senare. Intervjuerna transkriberades och kodades i syfte att beräkna antalet berättade detaljer och graden av korrekthet. Resultaten visade att de alkoholpåverkade vittnena var något mindre korrekta i sina utsagor, men de rapporterade samma mängd information som de nyktra vittnena. Även om de alkoholpåverkade vittnena var mindre korrekta så var de endast några procent mindre korrekta än de nyktra vittnena. Studien visade också att det var mer fördelaktigt, i termer av fullständighet och korrekthet, att intervjua vittnen två gånger (både vid en direkt och vid en uppföljande intervju) jämfört med att genomföra en direkt intervju eller endast en sen intervju. En direkt intervju var dock mer fördelaktig än en sen intervju.

Avhandlingen visar att alkohol hade olika effekt på hur vittnen presterade vid vittneskonfrontation och intervju. Alkohol hade inte någon negativ effekt på igenkänning, då både nyktra och alkoholpåverkade vittnen presterade på samma nivå i vittneskonfrontationen. Vittnena, som grupp, var dock relativt dåliga på att peka ut gärningsmannen i vittneskonfrontationen. Detta visar på att ansiktsigenkänning under en vittneskonfrontation kan vara en väldigt svår uppgift, även för nyktra vittnen. Gällande hur vittnena presterade under intervju så visade studierna att det inte är någon skillnad i mängden rapporterade detaljer mellan vittnena i den nyktra kontrollgruppen och i gruppen med den högre alkohol dosen. När det gäller graden av korrekthet i vittnenas återgivning minskade alkohol inte graden av korrekthet i Studie II, medan Studie III fann att alkohol faktiskt minskade vittnenas korrekthet. Även om det var en signifikant skillnad mellan de nyktra och de alkoholpåverkade vittnena i Studie III, så var de alkoholpåverkade vittnena endast några procent mindre korrekta än de nyktra vittnena. Fler studier inom detta område behövs för att kunna utreda vidare hur alkohol påverkar ögonvittnens minne. Denna avhandling visar dock att alkoholpåverkade vittnen presterar på ungefär samma nivå som nyktra vittnen. Det är dock viktigt att påpeka att vittnena i avhandlingens studier hade en relativt låg till medel grad av berusning (under 1.0 i promille), vilket gör att avhandlingens resultat inte kan generaliseras till vittnen som har en högre promillehalt i blodet vid brottstillfället.

This thesis is dedicated to my late father. In our memory, you will always live on.

Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the following people who have made this thesis possible and supported me throughout the years:

To my main supervisor Professor *Pär Anders Granhag*, whose knowledge and feedback on my academic work have been of the highest value. He has taught me that research is an artisanship where every detail is important.

To my second supervisor, Professor *Claudia Fahlke*. For all the support and encouragement throughout the years, and for the scientific feedback. Thank you!

To my second supervisor, Associate Professor *Anna Söderpalm Gordh*, for sharing her long experience in the practical matters of conducting ethical laboratory experiments involving alcohol.

To my co-author and dear friend Dr. *Emma Roos af Hjelmsäter*. You have contributed with valuable scientific feedback on my work, but most importantly you have become one of my closest friends.

To research nurse *Cecilia Nilsson Wallmark*, for great support in the practical work of conducting alcohol experiments. Also thanks to *Bengt Eriksson*, MD, and *Bo Söderpalm*, MD.

To both previous and current members of the research unit for Criminal, Legal and Investigative Psychology (CLIP): Professor *Pär Anders Granhag*, Associate Professor *Leif Strömwall*, Associate Professor *Karl Ask*, Dr. *Sara Landström*, Dr. *Emma Roos af Hjelmsäter*, Dr. *Lisa Öhman*, Dr. *Franziska Clemens*, Dr. *Melanie Knieps*, *Ivar Fashing*, *Helen Alfredsson*, *Rebecca Willén*, *Olof Wrede*, *Tuule Sooniste*, *Malin Karlén*, *Simon Moberg Oleszkiewicz*, *Serra Tekin*, *Erik Mac Giolla*, *Ernst Noordraven*, *Linn Allwood*, *Erik Adolfsson*, *Sofia Calderon*, *Ann Witte*, *Linda Lindén*, *Mandy Sundborg*, *Emelie Ernberg* and *Kerstin Adolfsson*. For those of you I had the chance to get to know a little bit more, a special thanks to you for friendship both in good and bad times.

Thanks to *all* the members of the research unit Addiction Psychology: Experimental and Clinical Research (APEC). Special thanks to Professor *Claudia Fahlke*, Associate Professor *Kristina Berglund*, Associate Professor *Ulf Berglund*, MD, and Associate Professor *Jan Balldin*, MD.

To Ann Backlund for practical help with this thesis.

To the colleagues at the Department of Psychology for making this department a great working place. Thanks to Sandra Buratti, Linnea Almqvist, Marcus Praetorius, Johanna Carlsson, Carl-Christian Trönnberg, Gro Einarsdottir, *Kristina Holmqvist Gattiaro, Maria Wängqvist* and all the rest of the PhD students for nice times.

Thanks to all of the 233 *students* who took time off their studies to participate in these time-consuming experiments.

Thanks to research assistants Josefin Kadesjö, Lilith Edwinsson, Malin Karlén, Lukas Jonsson, Inka von Borgstede, Erica Thurang, Jana Andersson, Lillieanne Johansson, Jeanette Lundgren, Anna Mattsson, David Sehm, Petra Valej, Johan Bondeson, Anna Larsson, Isabelle Hansson, Emelie Ernberg and Ann Witte.

To my dear friends outside of academia for being great! A special thanks to *Elin Karlsson*, *Sara Svanbäck*, *Emelie Falkberger* and *Tobias Falkberger*, for good friendship throughout many years.

To my family, *Birgit*, *Peter*, *Susanne*, *Michael* and little *Johanna* and *Sandra* for being the best family you could ever have! To *Victor Hagsand*. Together we have seen many wonders of the world, and there are more to come in the future!

This research has been financially supported by the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare (Grant number: 2009-1660).

Angelica Hagsand Gothenburg, May 2014

Preface

This thesis consists of a summary and the following three papers, which are referred to by their roman numerals:

- I. Hagsand, A., Roos af Hjelmsäter, E., Granhag, P.A., Fahlke, C., & Söderpalm Gordh, A. (2013). Do sober eyewitnesses outperform alcohol intoxicated eyewitnesses in a lineup? *The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context*, *5*, 23-47.
- II. Hagsand, A., Roos af Hjelmsäter, E., Granhag, P.A., Fahlke, C., & Söderpalm Gordh, A. (2013). Bottled memories. On how alcohol affects eyewitness' recall. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 54, 188-195. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12035
- III. Hagsand, A., Roos af Hjelmsäter, E., Granhag, P.A., Fahlke, C., & Söderpalm Gordh, A. (2014). Stumbling down memory lane: The advantages of interviewing witnesses while they are still under the influence of alcohol. Manuscript submitted for publication.

Table of contents

Introduction	1
The Present Thesis	2
Memory	3
Models of Memory	3
Episodic Memory	4
Phases of Memory	6
System and Estimator Variables	7
Recall and Recognition	8
Interviews	9
Face Recognition	10
Line-Ups	11
Line-Up Composition and System Variables	12
Sex Differences as an Estimator Variable	15
Alcohol	16
Measurements	16
Short-Term Effects of Alcohol Consumption	17
Alcohol-Induced Amnesia	20
Alcohol and Eyewitness Interview Studies	22
Alcohol and Eyewitness Line-Up Studies	23
Theoretical Approach	24
The Alcohol Myopia Theory	24
Summary of the Empirical Studies	27
General Method	29
Laboratory Environment	29
Participants	29
Instruments	32
Alcohol Dosages	32

Phase One	33
Phase Two	34
Preparation of the Data	35
Study I	36
Study II	37
Study III	39
General Discussion	43
Performance During the Line-Up	44
Line-Up Performance and the Alcohol Myopia Theory	45
Performance During the Interview	46
Total Amount of Information	46
Accuracy	48
Recall vs. Recognition	49
Sex Differences	50
Limitations	50
Future Directions	52
Final Remarks and Legal Implications	55
References	57
Appendix	71

Introduction

In the spring of 2010, several persons were stabbed at a private party in Sweden. Newspapers reported that the eyewitnesses were heavily intoxicated by alcohol. Due to the poor memories of the witnesses, the prosecutor was not able to gather enough information from the preliminary police investigation to establish a case. The prosecutor stated that a strong eyewitness testimony or a confession would be needed to reopen the preliminary police investigation (Johnsson, 2010; Jaslin, 2010). This case illustrates that alcohol may affect negatively eyewitness memory and result in unsolved crimes. The overarching aim of the present thesis is to examine how alcohol affects eyewitness memory.

Alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses may misremember, as can sober witnesses. Indepth DNA analyses have shown that several innocent persons have been imprisoned, sometimes partly due to erroneous eyewitness memory (Kassin & Gudjonsson, 2004). Studies have found that 75% of wrongful convictions may be due to faulty eyewitness memory (Wells & Olson, 2003). However, although eyewitness memory can be faulty, it is an important source of information in criminal cases (Granhag, Ask, & Mac Giolla, 2013). Indeed, for most criminal cases, eyewitnesses' testimonies are the sole source of evidence (Wells & Olson, 2003).

Alcohol-related crimes are common in western societies, and often the offender, the victim or an eyewitness is intoxicated at the time of the crime. A report estimated that in the UK, about half of all violent crimes are committed by alcohol-intoxicated individuals (Kershaw, Nicholas, & Walker, 2008). Furthermore, the Swedish Crime Prevention Council has estimated that 50%–70% of all violent crimes in Sweden involve alcohol (Eksten, 2007; Ekström, 2009). A particular problematic pattern of alcohol consumption is binge drinking, which is heavy alcohol consumption on a single occasion leading to high-level intoxication. More specific, a common definition of binge drinking involves the consumption of five or more drinks for men and four or more drinks for women on a single occasion, usually within a period of 2 hours. Binge drinking is associated with numerous adverse consequences, including impulsive behaviour, unplanned risky sexual behaviour, and impaired decision making (e.g., Townshend, Kambouropoulos, Griffin, Hunt, & Milani, 2014). Binge drinking is a common problem in many countries, for example in the US (e.g., Kuntsche, Rehm, & Gmel, 2004). The

frequency of binge drinking in Sweden has been increasing over the past decade (Tryggvesson, 2013). As a consequence of this, the rate of alcohol-related crimes is likely to increase in the future.

Although many offenders are intoxicated, less attention has been paid to the fact that many eyewitnesses are alcohol-intoxicated. One reason for this may be that researcher underestimate how often witnesses are intoxicated (Gudionsson et al., 2004). However, the prevalence of alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses has been found to be high (Yuille, 1986). More recently, in a survey (Evans, Schreiber Compo, & Russano, 2009) conducted among police officers in the US, 75% of the officers reported that it was common or very common to have contact with alcoholintoxicated witnesses. The police officers reported that alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses were most commonly encountered in conjunction with violent crimes, such as domestic disputes, fights, assaults, thefts, and disorderly conduct. The officers conducted interviews with witnesses more often than they conducted lineups. Approximately 20% of the officers had conducted line-ups (approximately one a month) with intoxicated eyewitnesses. In contrast, interviews with intoxicated witnesses were conducted on average five times a week. The interview could take place directly at the crime scene when the witnesses were still intoxicated or later when the witnesses were in a sober state (Evans et al., 2009). A recent archival study from the US concluded that many witnesses in more serious criminal cases (rape, robbery and assault), also were under the influence of alcohol (Palmer, Flowe, Takarangi, & Humphries, 2013). In summary, research shows that alcoholintoxicated witnesses are very common.

More research is needed to understand how alcohol affects eyewitness memory, both during interviews and line-ups. In the applied context, knowledge of how alcohol affects eyewitness memory may play a crucial role. It seems to be a common belief within the legal system (e.g., among mock jurors) that intoxicated eyewitnesses are less credible than sober witnesses (e.g., Michalec, 1990; Evans & Schreiber Compo, 2010; Palmer et al., 2013). Given the potentially serious ramifications for the criminal justice system, it is highly important to examine the validity of this belief.

The Present Thesis

The general aim of this thesis is to examine how alcohol affects eyewitness memory. The thesis consists of three studies with the following specific aims: 1) to examine how alcohol affects eyewitnesses' line-ups performance (Study I); 2) to

determine how alcohol affects the performances of eyewitnesses in interview settings (Study II); and 3), to elucidate the optimal timing for interviewing intoxicated eyewitnesses (Study III). The thesis is organized as follows. First, the current view of memory is presented. Second, key terms are defined and explained in relation to previous research. Third, a summary of the theoretical framework and the empirical findings on alcohol and memory is provided. Fourth, a summary of each of the three studies is presented. Fifth, the findings are discussed in the light of a theoretical framework and previous empirical work.

Memory

Models of Memory

Memory is crucial for everyday life, and it is a system that often functions well. For example, think of all the things that we actually do remember and that make our day run smoothly. Some theoretical frameworks are relevant to the present thesis. A structural model of memory is the classic modal model proposed by Atkinson and Shiffrin (1968), see Figure 1. In the modal model of memory, the first stage is the sensory register that registers the perceptual information (e.g., visual, auditory, haptic) from the outside environment. If the information does not receive attention it quickly fades away, whereas if it is given attention it can be transferred to the short-term store. According to the model, the short-term store is a buffer that can hold a limited number of items for a period that lasts some seconds to some minutes. Items that are rehearsed and elaborated can then be transferred to and consolidated in the long-term store (Atkinson & Shiffrin, 1968). Atkinson and Shiffrin (1968) assume that the short-term store is necessary for long-term learning. Thus, the information had to be *first* registered in the short-term store so as to be able to reach the long-term store. Over the years, researchers have been critical of this model, since studies have shown that patients with limited short-term memory capacity still can have an intact long-term memory (Baddeley, 2004). To resolve this discrepancy. Baddeley and Hitch developed a more complex model of the short-term memory with several components, and they termed this the 'working memory' (Baddeley, 2000; 2004).



Figure 1. The modal model of memory.

A more process-oriented model, as opposed to the structural model of memory, is the levels-of-processing framework proposed by Craik and Lockhart (1972). This framework was developed to explain why even if information is present in the short-term memory it does not automatically become a long-lasting memory. Instead, this framework emphasises that the depth of processing that an item undergoes is an important factor in determining whether it will be transferred from the short-term memory to the long-term memory. It is now well-established that information that is elaborated and linked to prior knowledge is better remembered than information that is processed in a more superficial manner (Baddeley, 2004).

Episodic Memory

Currently, long-term memory is classified as either explicit (declarative) or implicit (non-declarative) memory. It is generally accepted that explicit memory consists of the sematic memory, which is involved in the remembering of facts, and the episodic memory, which is the memory dedicated to personally experienced events (Baddeley, 2004). The following quotation illustrates the characteristics of the episodic memory:

Perhaps the most remarkable achievement of human memory is the ability to think back and relive happenings from the past. In the response to such a simple cue as, say, 'high school graduation night,' it is possible to mentally transport oneself back many years or decades and to re-experience parts of life that probably have not been considered in a long time. The type of memory that allows people to reflect upon personal experiences is called episodic memory. (Wheeler, 2000, pp. 597)

Thus, episodic memory is the capacity to recollect consciously personal events, and the essence of this memory is its specificity, i.e., its capacity to represent a specific event and to locate it in time and space. Furthermore, a distinction can be made between episodic memory and autobiographical memory. The term episodic memory can be limited to relatively recent recollective experiences, and the term autobiographical memory can be restricted to the long-term accumulation of personal knowledge (Baddeley, 2001). According to Conway's (2001) definition, episodic memory is the ability to recall in detail what happened a few minutes or a few hours ago. However, these memories may not persist unless some consolidation occurs during, for example, sleep. The autobiographical memory is a complex higher order of cognition and it serves many functions. The autobiographical memory plays an important role in the grounding of the self, of who we are. Autobiographical memories make it possible to remember clear images of life-time periods, such as what happened in high school. Lifetime periods are abstract mental models of the self during a special time period, and are defined by a theme, e.g., school, work, relationships. However, the autobiographical memory not only contains information about life-time periods, but also general events that contain information about other persons, activities, locations, and feelings that are related to more specific experiences. These memories can be of repeated events, e.g., 'walk in the fields', extended events, such as 'holiday in Australia', or more specific events, such as 'the job interview'. The general events can also be organised as 'mini-histories' around a common theme, such as learning to drive a boat, first romantic relationship, etc. The mini-histories can have a direct connection to a certain life-time period, such as, for example, high school (Conway, 2001).

Although it can be useful to distinguish between episodic memory and autobiographical memory, such a strict distinction also carries some disadvantages. The present thesis therefore uses the broader definition proposed by Gardiner (2001): "Episodic memory corresponded roughly with autobiographical memory, i.e., with memory for personally experienced events, remembered as such. Semantic memory corresponded roughly with knowledge of the world, without any

autobiographical content" (pp.11). Therefore, if one remembers a dinner in Paris last summer this can be categorised as episodic memory, and the knowledge that Paris is the capital of France is semantic memory (Gardiner, 2001). However, in real-life, there is often an interaction between the episodic memory and the semantic memory when one is remembering. Research has shown that pre-existing knowledge about something makes it easier to place the new information in context, which in turn increases the probability that this information will be remembered (Baddeley, 2004). For example, research has found that women sometimes outperform men with respect to the recall and recognition of other peoples' appearances. One explanation for this might be knowledge-based driven, in that women are more aware of, for example, fashion so they can categorise more readily information about another person's appearance into meaningful words, thereby facilitating subsequent retrieval (Horgan, Mast, Hall, & Carter, 2004).

As a person is witnessing a criminal event, the memories are stored in the episodic memory. Therefore, this is the system of most relevance for the present thesis. Some parts of the episodic memory are of special relevence for eyewitnesses' memory. As Pozzulo, Dempsey, Crescini, and Lemieux (2009) have explained, witnesses are often asked by law enforcement officers to describe what happened at the scene of the crime and to describe the appearance of the perpetrator(s). Sometimes, witnesses are also asked to identify the perpetrator in a line-up. Thus, witnesses may be asked to perform two separate tasks: 1) recall (describing the crime and perpetrator); and 2) recognition (identifying the perpetrator from a line-up). The processes of recall and recognition are elaborated upon in greater detail below.

Phases of Memory

It can be useful to separate any memory system into three phases; encoding, storage, and retrieval. Encoding refers to that information is registered. The information might then be stored in the memory, which means that the information is maintained over time. The information might subsequently be retrieved through for example recognition or recall (Baddeley, 2004). Factors can influence all stages of memory and affect how well the information will be remembered. Some types of memory failures is errors of omission (i.e., a memory fails to come to mind) and errors of commission (i.e., an incorrect memory comes to mind). It is well-known that memory errors can have severe consequences, both in everyday life and within

the legal system. A specific and very common memory failure is referred as the error of *transience*, which means that the memory is weakened or lost over time and can therefore be classified as an error of omission (Schacter, 2001).

The present thesis primarily focuses on how alcohol affects the encoding phase of episodic long-term memories (Studies I–III). In addition, in Study III, half of the witnesses were asked to recall the event in an immediate interview while they were still were under the influence of alcohol. Hence, this study focused also on how alcohol may affect the retrieval phase.

System and Estimator Variables

Much research has been conducted on factors that potentially affect the accuracy of eyewitness recognition and recall. It is common to categorise these factors into system and estimator variables. System variables are variables that can be controlled by representatives of the criminal justice system, for example, which instructions the police give to an eyewitness before a line-up or the types of questions posed to a witness during an interview (e.g., leading or non-leading questions). Knowledge of system variables informs the legal system on, for example, how to design fair line-ups and conduct productive interviews (Wells & Olson, 2003).

Estimator variables are variables that cannot be controlled or manipulated by representatives of the criminal justice system, such as characteristics of the eyewitness (e.g., age or sex) (Wells & Olson, 2003). Importantly, the level of alcohol intoxication of eyewitnesses is an estimator variable (Evans et al., 2009; Malpass et al., 2008). Other estimator variables are characteristic of the criminal event (e.g., exposure time, lighting, distance) (Wells & Olson, 2003). For example, an eyewitness might just get a glimpse of the culprit's face or might be standing facing the perpetrator for a rather long time. As could be expected, eyewitnesses who have been exposed to a perpetrator's face for only a few seconds have greater difficulty with identifying the perpetrator later (e.g., Memon, Hope, & Bull, 2003). Knowledge about how different estimator variables affect eyewitness memory is important, since it can be helpful in assessing the amount and accuracy of the information that an eyewitness can remember from a particular crime scene (Wells & Olson, 2003).

Recall and Recognition

As described above, the eyewitnesses could be asked to perform two different memory retrieval tasks: recall (interview), and recognition (line-up). The recall task might be to describe the culprit's appearance, clothes, and actions, as well to describe what happened at the scene of the crime. It can be difficult for a witness to describe the appearance of a culprit in a way that enables the police to identify that person. For example, the description "male, dark hair, black clothes, glasses, average weight and height" fits many males in the population (Wells, 1993). The researcher Alan Baddeley offers a neat illustration of the difficulties associated with recalling a person's features, which have been encoded visually. Baddeley (2002) states that "verbal descriptions are likely to be of very limited value. Try, for example, to describe yourself in such a way that a stranger would recognize you" (pp. 18). While descriptions of the culprit can be accurate, it is often the case that very few details are reported that are helpful to the police (Fahsing, Ask, & Granhag, 2004). Nevertheless, recall is important because it can provide the police with information about what happened during the crime. The recall task is also fundamental to gaining information about the culprit's appearance, which is essential in composing a fair identification line-up (Evans et al., 2009).

The recognition task is to identify the culprit in a line-up (see for example: Pozzulo et al., 2009). The recognition task is important because information that reaches beyond the interview can be obtained. Thus, while it can be difficult to describe a culprit in words, that culprit might instead be identified in a line-up (Wells, 1993). The recognition task is an additional and important element to the interview, although interviews are used much more often than line-ups (Evans et al., 2009).

It has been argued that recall and recognition are two different types of processes (Pozzulo et al., 2009). The type of information that is processed during recall is mostly dependent upon internal stimuli, such as eyewitnesses' knowledge about what happened at the scene of the crime. Recognition relies more on external stimuli, such as vision. Recognition is based on a feeling or sense of familiarity with respect to one of the presented alternatives, for example to one member of a line-up (Robinson, Johnson, & Robertson, 2000). Pozzulo et al. (2009) found no significant association between a line-up decision and the amount of information recalled during an interview. Thus, if a witness performs poorly (or well) in one of the two memory tasks, this result cannot be used to predict that that witness will also perform poorly (or well) in the other task (Pozzulo et al., 2009). Importantly, if the conditions at the scene of the crime are favourable (e.g., adequate lighting, short

viewing distance, long exposure time), high-quality encoding is possible, with the result that the witness may perform well in both a line-up and an interview (Yarmey, 2004).

Interviews

When witnesses are asked in an interview to tell about an experienced event, the memory task in question is recall. With intoxicated witnesses, investigators may have the possibility to decide when to conduct the interview. In this respect, some of the available options are: a) interview the witness immediately, while he or she is still intoxicated; b) delay the interview until the witness is sober; and c) conduct both an immediate and a delayed interview. A survey reported by Evans et al. (2009) showed that it was about equally common to have an immediate interview (while the witness was still intoxicated), as to delay the interview until the witness was in a sober state. In a study that investigated cases of rape, robbery, and assault, interviewing the witnesses on the same day as the crime took place was the most common practice. This was the procedure used both for sober and intoxicated witnesses, and the police did not seem to delay deliberately interviews with intoxicated witnesses or use different information-gathering techniques when dealing with those witnesses (Palmer et al., 2013). Furthermore, police officers seem to hold the belief that intoxicated witnesses should be interviewed repeatedly (Evans et al., 2009).

Research has shown that immediate recall retards the process of forgetting, both in standard memory tests (e.g., Odinot & Wolters, 2006; Yuille, 1973), and among alcohol-intoxicated witnesses (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). When new details are recalled at a follow-up interview, reminiscence has occurred. In a follow-up interview, it is possible that the witnesses recall most of the things reported during the immediate interview, plus some extra new details (Gilbert & Fisher, 2006). The obvious downside of a delayed interview is that is likely that the witnesses have forgotten information, since more time has passed since the event (e.g., Baddeley, 1991). Another downside of a delayed interview is that social influences during the retention interval may affect the witness (Granhag, Memon, & Roos af Hjelmsäter, 2010; Read & Connolly, 2007). While memory research suggests that an immediate interview is beneficial, it is not known whether this is also true for alcoholintoxicated witnesses. Only one previous study (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990) has investigated the effects of timing of the interview (immediate versus delayed) and recall trial (first or second recall). That study showed that alcohol reduced both the completeness and accuracy of the witnesses' testimonies. Among the witnesses who were interviewed twice, regardless of intoxication level, the amount of reported information was greater in the delayed recall than in the immediate recall. This suggests that reminiscences occurred. When the delayed interview was the second recall trial, the completeness of the statements was higher than for participants for whom the delayed interview was the first recall trial (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990).

Face Recognition

Facial recognition is crucial in human social life. By viewing a face, we are not only able to conclude whether the person in front of us is a friend, a stranger or an enemy but we are also able to receive information about the person's age, gender, health, mood, etc. Some individuals experience difficulties in recognising faces, and sometimes this is a sign of prosopagnosia. Prosopagnosia is a selective recognition deficit, whereby the individual has lost the ability to recognise faces, while the ability to identify other objects remains intact (Grüter, Grüter, & Carbon, 2008). Approximately 2.5% of the Caucasian population has prosopagnosia from birth. Thus, the prevalence of prosopagnosia is on the same level as that of dyslexia (Grüter et al., 2008; Kennerknecht et al., 2006), which means that prosopagnosia is a relatively common deficit.

Even without prosopagnosia, recognising faces that have been viewed for only a short period of time is very difficult. It is especially difficult when conditions, such as viewpoint, lighting, facial expression, and appearance, vary from the first time of seeing the person (the encoding phase) to the recognition task (retrieval phase). Humans are experts in recognising familiar and known faces. Familiar faces can be recognised even under poor viewing conditions (Hancock, Bruce, & Burton, 2000; Johnston & Edmonds, 2009). To identify a person, the brain has to activate information stored in the semantic and episodic memory, which includes who this person is, where he or she was seen previously, and if the name is known. As there are more clues and information about a familiar face, these activate more stored information and the face is therefore more easily recognised. In the case of a rather unfamiliar face, perhaps one that has been encountered only once previously, there are fewer clues, so the identification is more difficult (Leveroni et al., 2000). Researchers and practitioners should be aware that recognising unfamiliar faces is

difficult, as it may lead to inaccurate eyewitness identifications. Therefore, the recommendation is not to base the conviction of a suspect exclusively on eyewitness identification (Baddeley, 2002).

Line-Ups

A line-up is a parade (through photographs, and video or live) of the suspect together with other individuals (foils). This parade is shown to the witness so that he or she can confirm or not confirm the police's hypothesis that a particular suspect is the actual culprit (Wells & Olson, 2003). In real-life situations, the police do not know if the suspect is the real culprit or not. In order to reflect this, laboratory studies usually composite line-ups with the known culprit among innocent foils (target-present line-up) or with an innocent replacement person among innocent foils (target-absent line-up) (Brewer & Palmer, 2010; Wells & Olson, 2003). The witness can make a correct or an incorrect line-up decision. In a target-present line-up, the identification of the culprit is a correct decision. The identification of a foil or a rejection (not there response) is incorrect. In a targetabsent line-up, rejection is correct, whereas identifications of the culprit's replacement or foil are incorrect decisions (Cutler & Kovera, 2010). In contrast to laboratory-based experiments, the problem in real-life is that the police do not know if they have composed a target-present or a target-absent line-up, that is, they do not know whether their suspect is the true culprit.

There are large differences in eyewitnesses' line-up performances across different studies. In general, research has showed that identification performance is rather poor, although the range of values is wide. Two meta-analyses have found that in target-present line-ups, the accuracy rate is usually around 50% (Steblay, Dysart, Fulero, & Lindsay, 2001; Steblay, Dysart, & Wells, 2011), although it ranges from 25% (e.g., Brewer, Weber, Clark, & Wells, 2008) to 90% (e.g., Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). For target-absent line-ups, meta-analyses have shown that the rate of correct rejection tends to be 43%–49% (Steblay et al., 2001, 2011), although the performance range is again very wide (Pozzulo et al., 2009). A meta-analysis has shown that a high number of witnesses fail to identify the culprit if the culprit's face and appearance have changed, even just a little, from the time of encoding (Shapiro & Penrod, 1986). This implies that the chance of being able to recognise a face increases if the difference in the physical appearance is small between the time-point at which the person was first seen and the time-point of the recognition

task (Longmore, Liu, & Young, 2008). In addition, the characteristics of an eyewitness' testimony that can be used to determine if the witness made accurate or incorrect line-up identification have been investigated. Most of this research has examined the association between eyewitness confidence that the line-up choice made is correct and the actual line-up performance. However, there are discrepant results concerning the confidence-accuracy relationship (Wells & Olson, 2003). Studies have found that witnesses who are confident in their line-up decision also make more accurate identifications of the culprit (e.g., Brewer, Keast, & Rishworth, 2002; Brewer & Wells, 2006; Brewer et al., 2008; Lindsay, Nilsen, & Read, 2000), while other studies have not found this to be the case (see; Wells & Olson, 2003). Recent research suggests that accurate eyewitness identifications may be screened out by examining witnesses who both have a high level of confidence and make their line-up decision rapidly (e.g., Brewer et al., 2008).

Line-Up Composition and System Variables

In this section, some system variables that have been found to affect eyewitnesses' performances in line-ups will be discussed. Studies have found that before an eyewitness is presented with a line-up, it is beneficial to inform the eyewitness that the culprit may or may not be present. This reduces the rate of wrongful identifications, which is important since a mistaken identification can cause an innocent person to be charged or convicted (e.g., Steblay, 1997).

A line-up may be unfair if the suspect is very different in appearance from the foils (e.g., the suspect has blond hair and glasses, while the foils have brown hair and no glasses). This might lead to the suspect being selected just because he or she stands out, and not as an outcome of the witnesses' memory. On the other hand, if the suspect appears to be too similar to the foils, identification will be very difficult. In those cases in which the suspect is the real culprit, the line-up can be perceived as being unfair, since there is an increased risk that the culprit will not be identified. Choosing foils can be accomplished by at least two different methods. One method is matching by physical similarity. Matching foils on the basis of physical similarity to the suspect is a method that is more likely to be influenced by the persons who are composing the line-up. Such matching can lead to the suspect being too similar in appearance to the foils, which may make it too difficult for the witness to distinguish the culprit. An alternative method is to match the foils to the

verbal description of the culprit provided by the witness, which may create a fairer line-up (Brewer & Palmer, 2010; Wells et al., 2000; Wells & Olson, 2003).

A line-up can be presented to the witness in a simultaneous or sequential manner or through a show-up procedure. A show-up consists of a single person or photograph. A simultaneous line-up is when all the line-up members are presented simultaneous to the witness. When the line-up members are presented simultaneously, witnesses tend to use relative-judgment decisions and are more likely to choose the person who most closely matches their memory of the culprit. However, the real culprit may not be in the line-up, and the witness might than identify an innocent suspect or foil. In a sequential line-up, the line-up members are presented in a sequential manner to the witness. Witnesses may then use an absolute-judgment decision process in which they matching each face separately to their memory of the culprit. Thus, the risk of choosing an innocent suspect or foil is reduced (Wells & Olson, 2003). Meta-analyses have shown that sequential line-ups reduce the rate of mistaken identifications in target-absent line-ups, although they also reduce the rate of correct identifications in target-present line-ups (Steblay et al., 2001, 2011). The question as to which line-up method is optimal has become a matter for debate among psycho-legal scholars (see Lindsay, Mansour, Beaudry, Leach, & Bertrand, 2009a, 2009b; Malpass, Tredoux, & McQuiston-Surrett, 2009). Although the sequential line-up may appear to be superior, some researchers also acknowledge the benefits of simultaneous line-ups. The advantage of a reduction in the rate of false identifications in the sequential line-up is not necessarily more important than an increase in the rate of correct identifications found in simultaneous line-ups (Malpass et al., 2009; McQuiston-Surrett, Malpass, & Tredoux, 2006). Some researchers argue that a new approach should be adopted. Instead of the witness giving a *yes* or *no* response to each photograph, the witness should rate the likelihood that each person in the line-up is the culprit. The downside to this approach is that a court of law usually requires a definitive line-up decision from the witness (Brewer & Palmer, 2010).

Another factor that may influence the identification performances of witnesses is the number of foils used. Although a show-up is commonly used by the police, it is regarded as a suggestive method by researchers in the field. The absence of foils results in more false identifications of innocent persons, as compared with a sequential or simultaneous line-up (Brewer & Palmer, 2010). In a standard line-up that is composed on the basis of fairness, the chance that an innocent suspect will resemble the actual culprit more than the other foils is 1/N, where N is the number of line-up members. Thus, the chance that an innocent suspect is identified in an eight-person line-up is simply 1/8 (12.50%). In contrast, the chance of identifying an innocent suspect in a two-person line-up is 1/2 (50%). The Swedish Police states

in their official guidelines that the number of foils should be at least 6 persons, but preferably 8–10 persons (Rikspolisstyrelsen, 2005).

The choice that an eyewitness makes in a line-up situation depends on the match between the line-up members and the memory that the witness has of the culprit. This match must pass the witness' own identification criteria, which determine the willingness to identify an individual in the line-up (Clark, 2003). In many cases, the witness is not completely certain whether his or her line-up decision is correct, and may state this. A limitation in most of the previous studies on this topic is that the witness has been forced to give a definite answer, i.e., either make an identification or reject the line-up. Recent research has shown that it is beneficial to include a not-sure response option (Steblay & Phillips, 2011). Providing the witnesses with this option might improve line-up accuracy by screening out those witnesses who are not certain regarding their decisions (Weber & Perfect, 2011). If an evewitness has a *good* memory of the culprit, he or she may still hesitate in choosing one of the line-up members. This might be because the culprit's appearance has changed or because the witness has a high identification criterion (low willingness to make an identification). If a witness with a *poor* memory and a high identification criterion is presented with a line-up, the witness has the opportunity to choose the *not-sure* response, instead of a definitive yes or no response. A witness with a poor memory but a low identification criterion (high willingness to make an identification) would probably give an definitive yes response if only presented with the dichotomous response options (yes or no). It is easy to see the benefits of offering a not-sure response, even for this witness. In brief, adding a *not-sure* response may result in less incorrect identification of foils and less correct identification that are arrived at by guessing. Furthermore, a study conducted by Weber and Perfect (2011) showed that 19% of the participants gave a *not-sure* response when this alternative was offered, whereas only 2% of the participants came up with this response on their own when the not-sure option was not explicitly offered. The use of a not-sure response option seems to be spreading to police practices in, for example, the USA (Steblav & Phillips, 2011), and is an element that is adapted in the present work.

Furthermore, research has shown the importance of adapting a double-blind testing procedure. That is, the administrator is blinded as to which person in the line-up is the suspect. This is important, as otherwise the administrator might consciously or unconsciously influence the line-up decision of the witness (Wells & Olson, 2003). All of the described system variables were taken in consideration when composing the line-up experiments in the present thesis.

Sex Differences as an Estimator Variable

The most important estimator variable for this thesis is the level of alcohol intoxication when witnessing a crime. However, the sex of the witnesses is also an estimator variable which may affect the memory performance. One meta-analysis has shown that males and females perform at the same level in facial identification tasks (Shapiro & Penrod, 1986). However, a separate meta-analysis has revealed that women outperform men in facial identification tasks (Hall, 1984). In recent years, more studies have appeared that demonstrate that women outperform men, both in person identification tasks (e.g., Casiere & Ashton, 1996; Lindholm & Christianson, 1998) and in general face recognition (e.g., Herlitz, Nilsson, & Backman, 1997; Rehnman & Herlitz, 2007). It seems that women outperform men to an even greater extent if the target face is another woman (Lovén, Herlitz, & Rehnman, 2011; Lovén et al., 2012). Furthermore, a recent study has shown that women are more accurate than men in descriptions of persons (Areh, 2011). This might be explained by the fact that women tend to be superior to men in verbal ability, which enhances the recall (Herlitz & Rehnman, 2008). A meta-analysis has suggested that women are not only better at recognising faces, but also in recalling details about faces during an interview (Horgan et al., 2004). Usually, women have a greater tendency than men to be concerned about their own physical appearance and the appearances of others. In brief, women's comparatively better performance might be due to the fact that they encode information in larger amounts and with more detail. The female advantage could also be knowledge-based driven, since women may have more labels for physical appearance and hence are better at categorising this information into meaningful and easily accessed pieces (e.g., light brown-golden colour, Hollywood curls, and long hair with a diadem). Moreover, it has been found that it is easier for both females and males to recall women's appearances than men's appearances (e.g., Horgan et al., 2004). A possible explanation for this is that women's physical appearances are often richer in details, i.e., hairstyle, fashion clothes, jewellery, and accessories (Horgan et al., 2004). It is worth noting that although sex differences in episodic memory may be attributable to social and cultural factors, researchers have also suggested that a more biological explanation has validity. For example, sex hormones may be part of the explanation for the observed differences in episodic memory between men and women, whereby the female hormone oestrogen may have a stimulating effect (Yonker, Eriksson, Nilsson, & Herlitz, 2003).

Research suggests that alcohol influences men and women in different ways. Women sometimes reach higher blood alcohol concentrations, even when they consume the same amount of alcohol as men of similar body weight. This can be explained by the fact that women generally have lower water content of the body (Graham, Wilsnack, Dawson, & Vogeltanz, 1998). Women can be more cognitively impaired by alcohol, especially with regard to tasks that involve memory and divided attention (Mumenthaler, Taylor, O'Hara, & Yesavage, 1999; Tucker, Vuchinich, & Schonhaut, 1987). Women may also be more at risk of experiencing memory loss, including grayouts and blackouts (Rose & Grant, 2010). In contrast, one study found that moderate alcohol consumption could enhance cognitive functions, such as the episodic memory in women (Yonker, Nilsson, Herlitz, & Anthenelli, 2005).

Despite the above, it is not known whether alcohol influences women's and men's *eyewitness memory* differently. Studies of intoxicated eyewitnesses have not found any clear sex differences (Dysart, Lindsay, MacDonald, & Wicke, 2002), or they have not examined the matter at all (e.g., Harvey, Kneller, & Campbell, 2013a; King, 2005; Michalec, 1990; Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011; Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011; van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). The present thesis seeks to address the current scarcity of knowledge concerning how alcohol affects men and women as eyewitnesses. Further on, the next section focuses on the most important estimator variable for this thesis, namely alcohol.

Alcohol

Measurements

To measure how much alcohol an individual consumes, a measurement termed the *standard glass* is used in alcohol research. This measurement is also used by the healthcare authorities in several countries to estimate an individual's alcohol intake (Nilsen, Holmqvist, Hultgren, Bendtsen, & Cedergren, 2008). In the USA, the definition of a standard drink is 14 g pure ethanol, while it is lower both in the UK (8–10 g) and Australia (10 g) (Kerr, Patterson, Koenen, & Greenfield, 2009). In Sweden, a standard glass is equivalent of 12 g pure ethanol, which is the amount of alcohol that is normally found in a glass of wine (12–15 cl, approximately 11%–13%), a bottle of strong beer (33 cl, approximately 5%) or a shot of alcohol (4 cl, approximately 40%). The definition of standard glasses used in the present thesis is

taken from the Swedish version (Bergman, 1994) of the well-known screening instrument for hazardous alcohol intake, the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT) (Babor, Higgins-Biddle, Saunders, & Monteiro, 2001).

Even if the same amount of alcohol is consumed, individuals may exhibit different behavioural changes, and also may differ with respect to the subjective experience of alcohol intoxication (Holdstock & de Wit, 1998). Furthermore, it is not possible to know if two persons who consume the same amount of alcohol will reach the same objective level of alcohol intoxication. This variation can be due to age, sex, presence or absence of food in the stomach, mental and physical health, genetic factors, and tolerance to and previous experience with alcohol (e.g., Lee et al., 2009; Paton, 2005). Therefore, the level of intoxication is most commonly assessed by measuring the blood alcohol concentration (BAC). This is the measure used when drivers are stopped by the police and asked to exhale into a portable device, a Breathalyzer. In Sweden, the drink and drive limit is a BAC of 0.02%, whereas in some other countries the drink and drive limit is higher. For example, in some European countries and in some states in the US, the drink and drive limit is a BAC of 0.08%. As an important clarification for understanding this thesis; some countries uses BAC (%) as unit for the level of intoxication, while some other countries (including Sweden) uses per mille (‰). However, it is easy to understand the two units as a BAC of 0.02% is equivalent to 0.20 ‰, a BAC of 0.10% is equivalent to 1.00% etc.

Short-Term Effects of Alcohol Consumption

Alcohol is a substance that has both short-term and long-term effects on human physical and psychological functions. Alcohol has been considered as the most harmful of all drugs in a recent investigation, taking in account the harm it can inflict on both the individual and others (Nutt et al., 2010). That alcohol accounts for approximately 4% of the global health burden illustrates the negative long-term effects of the substance (Lee et al., 2009). However, in the present thesis, the focus is on the short-term effects of alcohol, more specific; the acute effect of alcohol on the episodic memory. When a person consumes alcohol, the BAC level rises, which results in behavioural changes (see Table 1). The behavioural changes listed in Table 1 relate to how healthy non-dependent individuals may respond to different BACs.

Alcohol is a drug which produces opposite effects. Consumers of the drug can experience both stimulant effects (e.g. increased heart rate, talkative) and sedative effects (e.g. slowness, fatigue). For example, experience of stimulation by dopamine release in the brain as well as sedation in form of anxiolytic effects is an explanation to why consumers of alcohol experiences positive effects, and also continues to use the drug (Hendler, Ramchandani, Gilman, & Hommer, 2013).

Short-Term Ejjects of Alconol on Human Benaviours	
Blood alcohol concentration	Manifestations
<0.05 %	TalkativeRelaxedMore confident
0.05%-0.08 %	 Talkative Acts and feels self-confident Judgment and movement impaired Inhibitions reduced
0.08%-0.15 %	 Speech slurred Balance and co-ordination impaired Reflexes slowed Visual attention impaired Unstable emotions Nausea, vomiting
0.15%-0.30 %	 Unable to walk without help Apathetic, sleepy Laboured breathing Unable to remember events Loss of bladder control Possible loss of consciousness
>0.30-0.40 %	ComaDeath

Table 1Short-Term Effects of Alcohol on Human Behaviours

Note. Table adapted from Government of South Australia (2012).

Alcohol-Induced Amnesia

Alcohol may affect the encoding, storage, and retrieval phases of memory. Importantly, a review of laboratory studies has shown that alcohol intoxication affects the encoding process of episodic memory to a far greater extent than it does the retrieval process (Mintzer, 2007). Both non-dependent individuals and alcoholdependent individuals may experience complete or partial memory loss if binge drinking or heavy consumption of alcohol occurs *before* encoding; this is a sign of anterograde alcohol-induced amnesia (White, 2003). A large body of research indicates that alcohol consumed before encoding impairs memory (e.g., Bisby, Leitz, Morgan, & Curran, 2010; Brown, Brignell, Dhiman, Curran, & Kamboj, 2010; White, 2003). Researchers agree that acute alcohol consumption disturbs cellular activity in the brain (White, 2003; White, Matthews, & Best, 2000), affecting primarily the hippocampus (White et al., 2000). This may have serious consequences, since the hippocampus plays a central role in the formation of new autobiographical memories (White, 2003). However, alcohol consumed after encoding may enhance memory performance, which is known as the retrograde enhancement effect (e.g., Bruce & Phil, 1997; Knowles, 2004; Tyson & Schirmuly, 1994). This enhancing effect might be explained by that alcohol intoxication can leads to a decrease in retroactive interference (Mann, Cho-Young, & Vogel-Sprott, 1984). Thus, alcohol suppresses cognitive activity, which otherwise would have interfered with the storage and formation of new memories (Moulton et al., 2005). Alcohol's retrograde enhancement effect and anterograde impairment effect have been found in several studies (e.g., Bruce & Phil, 1997; Garfinkel, Dienes, & Duka, 2006; Knowles & Duka, 2004). The focus of this thesis is anterograde alcoholinduced amnesia, i.e., how alcohol consumption before encoding affects evewitnesses' memory.

The memory loss linked to alcohol-induced amnesia can either be total, as in blackouts, or more commonly, fragmentary, as in the case of grayouts (Lee et al., 2009). Blackouts and grayouts occur in both alcohol-dependent individuals and social drinkers. As many as four out of five students have experienced grayouts (White, 2003). Although the probability of experiencing blackouts or grayouts is higher with higher intoxication levels (Perry et al., 2006), they can occur already at BACs of 0.06%–0.08% (Wetherill & Fromme, 2011). In addition, minor memory impairments can occur after consumption of a relatively small amount of alcohol. It should however be noted that alcohol does not seem to have a negative impact on memory at relatively low doses, with a BAC of around 0.03% (e.g., Breitmeier, Seeland-Schulze, Hecker, & Schneider, 2007). Thus, higher doses of alcohol have
serious deleterious impacts on memory (e.g., Söderlund, Parker, Schwartz, & Tulving, 2005; White, 2003).

Individuals who experience memory failures may try to fill in the gaps. Memory failure is quite common among consumers of alcohol, and sufferers often tend to reconstruct the past. Since they may not have any memory (as in the case of blackouts) or a very fragmentary memory (as in the case of grayouts), these individuals cannot use internal cues (e.g., sensory and contextual details) to decide if the memory is true or false. Instead, they have to rely on external sources (e.g., gather information from friends, photographic or physical evidence). The desire to fill in the gaps can lead these persons to trust rather unreliable sources. In turn, this can lead to the creation of false beliefs and inaccurate memories (Nash & Takarangi, 2011). This may be one explanation for why alcohol in some studies, for example in the studies conducted by Read, Yuille and Tollestrup (1992) and Yuille and Tollestrup (1990), has been found to decrease the levels of accuracy of eyewitnesses' recollections.

Importantly, the effect of alcohol on memory depends on several factors, such as which task is being performed (e.g., recall or recognition), which memory system is involved (e.g., the episodic or the semantic memory), and whether the BAC is increasing or decreasing (Söderlund et al., 2005). For example, alcohol is more likely to affect explicit (conscious) memory than implicit (unconscious) memory (Lister, Gorenstein, Fisher-Flowers, Weingartner, & Eckardt, 1991; Ray, Bates, & Ely, 2004). The way in which alcohol affects semantic memory, such as the remembering of word lists (e.g., Tracy & Bates, 1999) may not be the same as the way it affects the episodic memory of a crime (Evans et al., 2009). The effect of alcohol is also moderated by individual differences. For example, not all individuals who rapidly consume a large amount of alcohol experience an alcoholinduced blackout. This might be due to variations in genetic factors that affect the central nervous system (Lee et al., 2009). It is difficult to predict which individuals will experience alcohol-induced blackouts and grayouts, as well as to predict the time-points at which memory impairments will occur within the same person (Knowles, 2005).

Furthermore, the expectancy effects of alcohol have been shown to moderate memory performance. It has been found that when placebo groups believe that alcohol will enhance their memory, they remember more than the control group and more than participants who believe that alcohol will impair their memory (Kvavilashvili & Ellis, 1999; van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2007). Importantly, for the present studies, we decided not to include a placebo group, since it would have low relevance in the context of intoxicated eyewitnesses. In real-life situations, eyewitnesses would know whether or not they have consumed alcohol.

Alcohol and Eyewitness Interview Studies

The methods used for studying the effects of alcohol on recall with legal relevance can be summarised as follows. Participants consume alcohol, either selfadministrated in a bar (e.g., van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012) or administered at different dosages in a laboratory setting (e.g., Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). The BAC was usually $\leq 0.10\%$. A crime takes place, either staged live (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990) or on film (van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012). The participants view the crime, from an eyewitness perspective (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990) or perpetrator perspective (van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012; Read et al., 1992), or they witness an interaction (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011). The participants perform a recall task that is open-ended (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990), free and cued recall (van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012), or written free recall (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011). The recall task is conducted either immediately (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011; Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011), with a delay of some days (van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012) or both immediately and with one week delay (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990).

The results obtained from previous research efforts are mixed. Alcohol has found to decrease the amount of information recalled (e.g., van Oorsouw and Merckelbach, 2012; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990), although there are also studies that show no effect of alcohol on the overall completeness of statements (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011). Concerning accuracy rates, studies have found that alcohol reduces the accuracy of the statements (Read et al., 1992; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990), although there are exceptions to this (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011). In addition, one study has found that alcohol reduces the accuracy of cued recall, but not that of free recall (van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012). This might be explained by the theoretical framework offered by Koriat and Goldsmith (1996), which suggests that when individuals have the opportunity to decide which information to report, as in free recall, they may choose to report only those pieces of information that they are certain about, resulting in a rather high accuracy level. However, if these individuals are forced to cued questions, they may report the details they are not very certain about, which could may reduce the level of accuracy. This theoretical framework has found empirical support in several studies (e.g., Koriat & Goldsmith, 1996; Koriat, Goldsmith, Schneider, & Nakash-Dura, 2001).

Alcohol and Eyewitness Line-Up Studies

There have been few studies conducted on the effects of alcohol on eyewitnesses' line-up performances. The method used to examine how alcohol affects memory in a legal context and the findings from the previous studies can be summarised as follows. The studies have included either exclusively male participants (King, 2005; Michalec, 1990; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990) or both female and male participants (Dysart et al., 2002; Harvey et al., 2013a). Alcohol was administered in a laboratory and in the majority of the studies the BAC had reached approximately 0.05%–0.12% by the time of the witness event (Harvey et al., 2013a; King, 2005; Michalec, 1990; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). The exception to this is one study that was conducted in a bar and in which the intoxication level was much higher than in the other studies, being in the range of 0.00%–0.21%, although the mean BAC was 0.05% (Dysart et al., 2002). After alcohol consumption, the event shown involves either criminal (Harvey et al., 2013a; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990) or non-criminal (Dysart et al., 2002; King, 2005; Michalec, 1990) activities. The retention interval was a few minutes (Dysart et al., 2002), one hour (King, 2005), one day (Harvey et al., 2013a), two days (Michalec, 1990), or one week (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). All the studies used line-ups under both target-present and target-absent conditions; some line-ups were simultaneous (Harvey et al., 2013a; Michalec, 1990; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990), either simultaneous or sequential (King, 2005), or a show-up (Dysart et al., 2002). The results obtained were mixed. Some studies found no effect of alcohol intoxication on identification accuracy, neither under the targetpresent condition nor under the target-absent condition (Harvey et al., 2013a; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). Other studies found that alcohol reduced the accuracy of the witnesses' identifications but only under the target-present condition (Michalec, 1990) or the target-absent condition (Dysart et al., 2002; King, 2005). The discrepancies in the results might be explained by the different methods used. For example, differences in the witnesses' BACs, stimuli, retention intervals, and line-up composition. The set-ups used in the previous studies in this domain influenced the method for the line-up study (Study I) in the present thesis, and this will be further discussed below.

Theoretical Approach

The Alcohol Myopia Theory

Myopia is the medical term for the eye disorder of near-sightedness. Individuals with this impairment can see close and central objects clearly, whereas objects that are located further away appear blurred (Douglas, 2002). The alcohol myopia theory suggests that alcohol-intoxicated individuals are in a state of myopia and primarily encode the most central stimuli and fewer peripheral details. Intoxicated individuals are cognitively impaired by alcohol and cannot pay attention to as many stimuli as sober individuals. According to the theory, a comparatively smaller amount of information will therefore be encoded by intoxicated individuals (Josephs & Steele, 1990; Steele & Josephs, 1990). Several studies, not directly related to the eyewitness field, support the alcohol myopia theory (e.g., Clifasefi, Takarangi, & Bergman, 2006; Harvey, Kneller, Campbell, 2013b; MacDonald, MacDonald, Zanna, & Fong, 2000).

In the case of eyewitnesses and line-ups, some researchers have tried to apply the alcohol myopia theory to intoxicated evewitnesses (e.g., Dysart et al., 2002; Harvey et al., 2013a; Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011; Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011; van Oorsouw and Merckelbach, 2012). However, the support gained for this theory is mixed. There are at least three views as to how to interpret the alcohol myopia theory for intoxicated eyewitnesses. The first view, as presented by Dysart et al. (2002), suggests that intoxicated witnesses encode the central features of the culprit's face to the same extent as sober witnesses. However, due to the myopic state caused by the alcohol, they encode fewer peripheral details. For a target-present line-up, there is no difference in identification performance between sober and intoxicated witnesses, since when they see the culprit both groups are as likely to recognise him. However, for a target-absent condition, the intoxicated witnesses would be less likely, as compared with sober witnesses, to conclude that the culprit is not present. The intoxicated witnesses would use a "salient cue matching strategy", whereby the most salient details of the memory of the culprit are matched with the salient details among the foils in the target-absent condition. Since the intoxicated witnesses encode fewer peripheral and subtle cues, the small differences between the memory of the appearance of the real culprit and an innocent foil in a target-absent condition might not be detected. Thus, intoxicated witnesses would find it more difficult to discriminate between the real culprit and a similar-looking foil, and the rate of false identifications in a target-absent condition would then be higher than for sober witnesses (see; Dysart et al., 2002).

The second view is that proposed by Harvey et al. (2013a), who assume that the entire face of a culprit is a central cue for both sober and intoxicated witnesses. Based on this assumption, both sober and intoxicated witnesses are as likely to identify the culprit's face in a target-present condition as they are to note the absence of the face in a target-absent condition. Therefore, regardless of the line-up condition, there would be no difference in line-up performance between sober and intoxicated eyewitnesses (Harvey et al., 2013a).

The third view, mentioned by Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al. (2011) is that the *entire* stimulus material in the form of a video or staged crime may be perceived as very central to all witnesses, regardless of intoxication level. Thus, sober and intoxicated witnesses would perform to the same level in both target-present and target-absent line-ups.

The various view-points regarding the alcohol myopia theory are similar in that they make a distinction between central and peripheral details. They differ is that they set different limits or thresholds concerning which details are central and which are peripheral. It should be pointed out that the studies described in the present thesis were not designed to examine the alcohol myopia theory. The reason for discussing this theory is that it may provide a broader explanation of the results presented in the thesis.

Summary of the Empirical Studies

The overall aim of the studies was to examine how alcohol affects eyewitnesses' memory, in terms of line-up performance (Study I) and during investigative interviews (Study II and Study III). Table 2 provides an overview of the three empirical studies. The studies were conducted in a controlled laboratory environment, with the aim of simulating a real-life eyewitness scenario. The first two studies originate from the same data collection, and the third study is based on a separate data collection procedure. Participants from the first data collection were not allowed to take part in the second data collection.

Previous studies on alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses have not examined the effects of different dosages of alcohol in a controlled laboratory environment. Therefore, for Study I and Study II, two different alcohol dosages were used. Based on the findings obtained in Study Studies I and II, only the higher alcohol dosage was used in Study III. In all the studies, the performances of alcohol-intoxicated participants were compared with those of sober participants. In addition, participants in previous studies witnessed events that lacked elements of violence and/or weapons, which are factors that are often components of real-life eyewitness scenarios. To increase the ecological validity, the present studies used a violent criminal event in which a woman was kidnapped by two men and during which the main perpetrator pointed a weapon towards the witnesses. In previous studies, the retention interval between the crime and the follow up task has often been short, ranging from an immediate follow-up to a delay of some days. Therefore, the present studies used a retention interval of one week (Study I and Study II), and both immediate interviews and interviews at a one week after the event (Study III).

Table 2

Overview of the Three Empirical Studies Described in this Thesis

		Pha	se one		Phase two		
	Participants	Event on film	Immediate memory test	Retention interval	Delayed memory test	Independent variables	Dependent variables
Study I	N = 123 60% women 40% men	Two men kidnap a woman	-	1 week	Line-up	Beverage (control vs. lower alcohol dosage vs. higher alcohol dosage) Line-up (target present vs. target absent) Sex (women vs. men)	Line-up performance Confidence ratings
Study II	N = 126 63% women 37% men	Two men kidnap a woman	-	1 week	Interview	Beverage (control vs. lower alcohol dosage vs. higher alcohol dosage) Sex (women vs. men)	Total amount of information Accuracy rate
Study III	N = 99 58% women 42% men	Two men kidnap a woman	Interview (for half of the witnesses)	Immediate/ 1 week	Interview	Beverage (control vs. higher alcohol dosage) Recall (repeated, i.e. immediate & delayed vs. single, i.e. only delayed) Sex (women vs. men)	Total amount of information Accuracy rate For witnesses interviewed twice: Amount and accuracy of new details Amount and correctness of changed details

General Method

Laboratory Environment

The experiments were performed in a laboratory located at the Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg, Sweden. The laboratory is furnished and decorated as a living room (with couch, chairs, table, lamps, window, curtain, paintings and TV), so as to create a relaxed environment. The studies were approved by the regional Ethical Review Board (diary number: 727-09) in Gothenburg.

Participants

The participants were non-problematic social drinkers who were recruited through announcement boards at the University of Gothenburg. The participants were screened for initial eligibility in a telephone interview conducted by a research nurse (data collection for Study I and Study II) and by the first author of the studies (data collection for Study III). Potential participants were invited to an examination by a physician. They also completed the Psychiatric Symptom Checklist (Derogatis, 1983) and the Swedish translated version (Bergman, 1994) of the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT; Babor, Higgins-Biddle, Saunders, & Monteiro, 2001). Participants were excluded from the study if they had any ongoing condition that required medication, any ongoing Axis 1 psychiatric disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2000), any history of psychosis, any history of illicit drug or alcohol abuse or dependence, a level of education less than a high school degree, lack of fluency in Swedish, or were engaged in night-shift work. Participants with current harmful alcohol-drinking habits (AUDIT total score >10) were excluded. The latter restriction exceeds the generally accepted cut-off limits of total AUDIT scores of 6 (females) and 8 (males) for harmful alcohol consumption. However, the limit was increased to a total AUDIT score of 10 for both female and males because we considered it necessary for the participants to have previous experience of alcohol consumption, given that they were expected to consume quite a high level of alcohol in relation to a short time period of only 15 minutes. Furthermore, participants with abnormal body weight (body mass index < 19 or > 26), as well as pregnant or nursing women, were excluded. Only individuals who had good physical and mental health were allowed to participate. Participants were accepted without regard to ethnicity. Before participation, the participants were informed that the aim of the study was to investigate how alcohol affects eyewitnesses' memory. The research nurse (Study I and Study II) or the first author (Study III) answered any questions that the participants had before they signed the formal consent. Participants were told that they could be assigned to consume either alcohol or juice.

The participants were university students (60% women) with a mean age of 25 years. In general, around 95% of the participants who took part in phase one returned for phase two of the experiment. The flow of participants in the experiments conducted in Study III is illustrated in Figure 2. The pattern was approximately the same as the data collection pathways in Study I and Study II.



Figure 2. Sampling and flow of participants through the randomized experiment in Study III.

Instruments

The objective measure was blood alcohol concentration (BAC). BAC was estimated from the breath alcohol level (BAL) using the portable Breathalyzer Alert J5 (Alcohol Countermeasure Systems Corp, 2006).

Alcohol Dosages

The level of intoxication reached is determined not only by the administered dosage, but also by other factors (e.g., weight and sex). For example, if a person who weighs 60 kg receives the same amount of alcohol as a person who weighs 80 kg, then the lighter person will become more intoxicated. Furthermore, even when adjusting for body weight, women may achieve a higher BAC than men (e.g., Baraona et al., 2001; Mumenthaler et al., 1999). Therefore, to ensure approximately the same level of alcohol intoxication among all the participants, the alcohol dosage was adjusted for body weight (Study I and Study II) and for both body weight and sex (Study III). In Study I and Study II, there was no difference in intoxication levels between the women and men. However, as a precaution, the alcohol dosage was adjusted for sex in Study III. This was done because other studies recently conducted in our own laboratory have shown that women tend to reach a higher level intoxication when the alcohol dosage is not adjusted for sex (see Hildebrand Karlén, 2013). The beverage served consisted of alcohol (vodka, 40%) mixed with pulp-free orange juice. The participants in the alcohol groups knew that they were consuming alcohol, although they were not aware of whether they received the lower or the higher alcohol dosage (Study I and Study II).

The control group only consumed orange juice, also in the knowledge that they only received juice. Expectancy effects of alcohol were not controlled for in the studies. The lower alcohol dosage groups in Study I and Study II consumed 0.4 g/kg ethanol. This means that a person who weighs 70 kg receives an amount of alcohol that can be translated into approximately two (25 g pure ethanol) Swedish standard glasses of alcohol (e.g., two glasses of wine). The higher alcohol dosage group consumed 0.7 g/kg ethanol, corresponding to a 70-kg person consuming approximately 45 g of pure ethanol, which is equivalent to approximately four Swedish standard glasses of alcohol (e.g., four glasses of wine). The participants' BACs were expected to reach approximately 0.04% in the lower alcohol dosage group and 0.07% in the higher alcohol dosage group. In Study III, the females received 0.65 g/kg ethanol and the males received 0.70 g/kg ethanol.

Phase One

The participants arrived at the laboratory after lunch and were informed about the procedure. The BAC was measured with a Breathalyzer before the experiment started (baseline) and at 20, 35, and 50 minutes after the start of the beverage consumption. The participants were not told about their BAC levels, either during or after the experiment.

All the participants in one session were administered the same beverage at the same dosage. The participants were randomly assigned to a beverage condition. The consumption was monitored by the experiment leader, to ensure an even ingestion pace over the 15 minutes. The observed behavioural changes among the participants in the lower and the higher alcohol dosage groups was expected for those levels of intoxication. Common behavioural changes at those intoxication levels are such as extraversion, joyfulness, and talkativeness, as well as cognitive impairments of concentration, and reasoning (see Table 1), and those was observed among the participants by the experiment leader. For all the three empirical studies, the experiment leader was the author of this thesis.

Five minutes after the end of consumption, the participants witnessed the staged kidnapping on film. The film lasted 4 minutes and 50 seconds, with both culprits and the victim filmed from various angles. Close-up views of the main culprit's face were available for 31 seconds, the other culprit's face for 14 seconds, and the victim's face for 53 seconds. The film has been used in several previous studies (e.g., Allwood, Ask, & Granhag, 2005; Allwood et al., 2006; Granhag, 1997). The participants were instructed not to talk to each other about the film. After the film (35 minutes after the start of consumption), the participants completed filler tasks for 25 minutes (Study I and Study II) or 15 minutes (Study III). For ethical reasons, the participants were sent home after some hours when their BAC was 0.00% (Study I and Study II) or were sent home by taxi when they had reached a BAC of 0.05% (Study III).

Half of the participants in Study III underwent an immediate interview before they were sent home. This was a standard interview (Granhag & Spjut, 2001), and all the interviews were audio-recorded. The immediate interview was conducted while the participants were still under the influence of alcohol, and the interview lasted on average 15 minutes. The interview started with a free recall in which the participants were asked to tell everything that they could remember about the event. There followed nine open-ended questions in which the participants were asked, in the following order, to describe everything they remembered about: 1) the place where the crime took place; 2) the kidnapped woman; 3) other people present in the surrounding area before the crime took place; 4) the perpetrators' car; 5) the persons present in the car; 6) the main perpetrator's physical appearance and clothes; 7) the second perpetrator's physical appearance and clothes; 8) other witnesses to the crime; and 9) any additional information that might be of value to the investigation. After each question, a follow-up question was posed regarding any additional information that could be remembered.

Phase Two

In phase two, the memory of the participant was tested after a retention interval of one week, and the memory tasks will be described in the chronological order of: Study I, Study II, and Study III.

The participants in the first data collection conducted the recognition task (Study I) first and thereafter the recall task (Study II). The recognition task consisted of a photographic line-up presented on a computer screen. Eight head and shoulder photographs of similar-looking men were simultaneously displayed. The participants were randomly assigned to either the target-present or the target-absent condition. The line-up was supervised by a person who was blinded to the participants' previous levels of intoxication and the line-up conditions. The task was to identify the main culprit. The participants could choose between ten alternative responses, to identify one of the eight persons in the line-up, conclude that the culprit was not present, or give a *not-sure* response. Confidence ratings, whereby the participants were asked to judge if they thought their line-up decision was correct, were collected. The scale was an 11 point Likert scale which ranged from 1 (*not at all confident*) to 11 (*completely confident*). The participants who had given a *not-sure* response did not make a confidence judgment.

After the line-up was completed, the participants in the first data collection were asked for a recall (Study II). The interview was a standard interview (Granhag & Spjut, 2001), and all the interviews were audio-recorded. This interview lasted approximately 5–10 minutes and consisted of a free recall in which the participants were asked to tell everything they remembered about the event followed by six open-ended questions about the kidnapped woman, the perpetrators, the car, and other people in the surrounding area. As an example, the question was asked: "*Can you describe, as detailed as possible, what happened at the bus station*?" After each question, a follow-up question was posed to ascertain if the participant could remember any additional details. Finally, they were asked if they had any other information that might be of value to the investigation.

In Study III, all the participants had a one week-delayed interview, in a room that they had not previously visited. The interview was the same as the immediate interview that half of the participants had undergone one week before. The only difference was that all the participants were instructed to report everything that they remembered, even if they already had reported the details in an immediate interview. For all the data collections, the participants were offered as compensation a choice of 350 SEK (approximately \in 40) or three cinema tickets.

Preparation of the Data

Each interview was transcribed and coded for the amount of reported information and accuracy rate. The coding followed the principles used in previous studies (e.g., Roos af Hjelmsäter, Strömvall, & Granhag, 2011). Each statement was broken down into small units (e.g., the sentence "the man pointed a black gun" was counted as three units: "the man pointed" and "a gun" and "black"). The total number of units reported by each participant was counted (completeness), and then each unit was coded as correct, incorrect or undefined (e.g., correct details were units that were completely correct; for example, "the woman's hair was dark red"). Thus, the total amount of information consisted of correct, incorrect, and undefined units. The accuracy rate was calculated by dividing the number of correctly reported details by the total amount of reported information.

In Study III, additional codings were conducted for participants who were interviewed twice. These codings were conducted to examine the amount and accuracy rate of new information; details that were not reported in the first interview but were reported in the second interview. Also, the amount of changed information was examined; details that were mentioned in the first interview but that were subsequently changed in the second interview, and if those details more often ended up as incorrect or correct. All statistical tests were conducted using the SPSS for Microsoft Windows version 18 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The results for the recall studies (Study II and Study III) are illustrated in Table 3 for comparative reasons.

Study I

The aim of Study I was to examine how different dosages of alcohol affected the performances of eyewitnesses in line-up identifications. In line with the assumptions presented by Dysart et al. (2002) regarding the alcohol myopia theory (Josephs & Steele, 1990; Steele & Josephs, 1990), it was hypothesised that the BAC would not affect line-up performance in the target-present condition (Hypothesis 1). For the target-absent condition, it was predicted that a higher degree of alcohol intoxication would result in a poorer line-up performance (Hypothesis 2). The study also examined how alcohol affected eyewitnesses' line-up performance with respect to sex differences.

Results

There was no significant difference between the beverage groups in terms of lineup performance, neither in the target-present condition (Hypothesis 1 supported) nor in the target-absent condition (Hypothesis 2 not supported). This result held true even when those participants who gave a *not-sure* response (never made any identification) were excluded from the analysis. Across the two line-up conditions (target-present and target-absent combined), 32% of the participants gave a *notsure* response. In the target-present condition, 25% of the witnesses gave a *not-sure* response and the corresponding number in the target-absent condition was 38%.

In general, all the groups performed better than would have been expected by chance. Despite this, all the groups, regardless of intoxication level, performed quite poorly. In other words, few of the witnesses in the target-present condition correctly identified the culprit, and few of the witnesses in the target-absent condition rejected the line-up. No difference was found in confidence levels between the different groups with respect to their line-up decisions, and no sex-related differences were detected.

Conclusions

The intoxicated witnesses performed at the same level as their sober counterparts. Although their performance levels were greater than would have been expected by chance, the absolute performance levels were rather poor. This was true for both the sober and the intoxicated eyewitnesses. The poor performances resulted in a floor effect, which hindered the detection of any group differences.

As noted above, the lack of differences between the groups remained even when the participants who gave the *not-sure* responses were excluded. If the *not-sure* response alternative had not been available, it is likely that more participants would have identified a foil. It is also possible that more witnesses would have made correct identifications simply by guessing. The relatively high frequency of *notsure* responses reflects the real-life situation in highlighting the difficulties witnesses experience in deciding whether the culprit is present or not. The present results are similar to those from the previous study of Steblay and Phillips (2011), which reported 27% *not-sure* responses for a target-present line-up.

Study II

The first aim of Study II was to examine how alcohol intoxication affected the completeness of the testimony (amount of recalled information) provided one week after witnessing a criminal event. The predictions were that the higher alcohol dosage group would recall fewer details than: a) the lower alcohol dosage group; and b) the control group (Hypothesis 1). Moreover, the lower alcohol dosage group was predicted to recall less information than the control group (Hypothesis 2). In a previous study, the participants were divided into a lower (sober and lowly intoxicated participants *combined*) and a higher BAC group (e.g., Dysart et al., 2002). Using this same split, we predicted that the witnesses who had a lower level of intoxication (the control group and the lower alcohol dosage group (Hypothesis 3). The second aim of this study was to examine how alcohol affected the accuracy of witnesses' statements. In line with previous research (e.g., Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990), it was predicted that alcohol would negatively affect the accuracy (Hypothesis 4).

Results

There was no significant difference with respect to the amount of recalled information between the control group and the lower alcohol dosage group (Hypothesis 2 not supported). Furthermore, no difference in the amount of recalled information was found between the control group and the higher alcohol dosage group (Hypothesis 1b not supported). However, comparing the two alcohol dosage groups, the lower alcohol dosage group recalled a significantly larger amount of information than did the higher alcohol dosage group (Hypothesis 1a supported). In a comparison of the participants with low levels of intoxication (participants in the control group and lower alcohol dosage group combined) and the participants in the higher alcohol dosage group, it was found that the highly intoxicated witnesses recalled less information, which confirms Hypothesis 3. There were no main effects of sex with respect to the amount of recalled information, and there was no interaction effect. Furthermore, there were no significant differences in accuracy rates between the beverage groups. Thus, Hypothesis 4 was not confirmed. There were no main or interaction effects of sex and alcohol dosage on accuracy.

Conclusions

The main finding was that there was no difference in the amount of recalled information between the sober witnesses and the witnesses in the lower alcohol dosage group. Furthermore, there was no difference in the amount of recalled information between the sober witnesses and the witnesses in the higher alcohol dosage group. Importantly, the intoxicated witnesses did not provide more confabulated or erroneous information. Differently put, the accuracy rates of the sober and intoxicated witnesses' statements were similar. Comparing the two alcohol dosages, witnesses who had consumed the lower dosage of alcohol recalled significantly more details than the witnesses in the higher alcohol dosage group, which was expected. The witnesses in the lower alcohol dosage group recalled the same amount of information as the sober witnesses, although there was a nonsignificant trend that the witnesses in the lower alcohol dosage group remembered slightly more details than the sober ones, see Table 3. While these findings are difficult to explain, it is possible to interpret them in line with previous research that has found that some drugs may have a stimulating effect and thereby enhance cognitive performance. As described in a literature review by McGaugh and Roozendaal (2009), drugs have been found to facilitate performance on cognitive tasks such as attention, perception, motivation, arousal, as well as influences on neurobiological processes involved in learning and memory.

Study III

The main research question posed in Study III was: When should alcoholintoxicated eyewitnesses be interviewed? More specifically, the focus was on three questions: 1) Is there a difference in memory performance between witnesses who have an immediate interview (i.e., still intoxicated) and witnesses who have a delayed interview (i.e., in a sober state)?; 2) Is there a difference in the combined memory performance between witnesses who are interviewed twice (immediate plus delayed interview) and those who are interviewed once (only a delayed interview)?; and 3) Among witnesses who are interviewed twice, is there a difference between sober and intoxicated witnesses in terms of the amount and accuracy and of new information provided during the second interview? Also, is there a difference in the amount of details that are changed between the first and the second interview, and does those details more often end up as incorrect or correct?

The first hypothesis was based on the notion that alcohol intoxication results in less-accurate recall (Nash & Takarangi, 2011), as well as the findings of previous empirical research (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). Thus, the alcohol group was predicted to be less accurate than the control group, regardless of whether they underwent an immediate or delayed interview (Hypothesis 1a), and regardless of whether they had a single or repeated interview (Hypothesis 1b). In line with the results of previous studies showing a negative main effect of alcohol on the amount of reported details (e.g., van Oorsouw and Merckelbach, 2012; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990), it was predicted that the alcohol group would recall less information than the control group, regardless of whether they had an immediate or delayed interview (Hypothesis 2a), and regardless of whether they had a single or repeated interview (Hypothesis 2b).

It was expected that witnesses who were interviewed immediately after the event would be more accurate than witnesses interviewed one week later (Hypothesis 3a). Furthermore, in line with natural forgetting (e.g., Baddeley, 1991; Schacter, 2001), it was predicted that witnesses who were interviewed immediately would recall more details than witnesses interviewed one week later (Hypothesis 3b).

Witnesses who had two recall trials were expected to be more accurate than witnesses who only had a single recall trial (Hypothesis 4a). In accordance with the reminiscence effect (Gilbert & Fisher, 2006), it was expected that when the two recalls were combined, witnesses who were interviewed twice would recall more information than witnesses who were interviewed only once (Hypothesis 4b). Due to the sparse nature of previous research on this topic, we made no predictions concerning sex differences.

Results

Alcohol reduced the accuracy of the participants' statements; hence Hypothesis 1a and 1b received support. However, alcohol did not affect the completeness of the reports, so Hypothesis 2a and 2b was not supported. The immediate recall rendered both a higher level of accuracy and more information compared to the delayed recall, which meant that Hypothesis 3a and 3b was supported. Witnesses who had repeated recalls were both more accurate and recalled more information than witnesses who only had a single recall, thereby supporting Hypothesis 4a and 4b. Among the witnesses who had two recalls, there was no difference between sober and intoxicated witnesses in terms of the amount or accuracy of new information that were reported at the delayed interview. Overall, for both the sober and intoxicated witnesses, of the total amount of information provided at the delayed interview, approximately 30% represented new information and those new details had an accuracy rate of 80%. Approximately 2% of the information recalled in the first interview was changed at the second interview. The changed details were more likely to end up being incorrect than correct.

Conclusions

Overall, Study III showed that alcohol had a negative effect on the accuracy of statements, but not on the total amount of reported information. It is important to point out that the quality (the accuracy) of witnesses' statements is of the highest relevance in criminal cases, since an incorrect testimony may result in the conviction of an innocent person. However, it is important to note that although intoxicated witnesses were significantly less accurate than sober witnesses; the difference was actually very small. Both the sober and intoxicated witnesses had

rather high accuracy rates, examining all details recalled. In addition, in terms of completeness and accuracy, it was more beneficial to interview witnesses twice than to conduct only an immediate or only a delayed interview. New details provided at the second interview were shown to be rather correct, both for sober and intoxicated witnesses.

Table 3

Summary of the Two Recall Studies (Study II and Study III) showing the Mean Number (SD) of the Amount of Information recalled and the Accuracy Rates of the witnesses' statements.

		Study II	Study III		
		21005	Study III		
	Control group (N=42)	Lower alcohol dosage group $(N = 40)$	Higher alcohol dosage group (N = 44)	Control group (N = 48)	Higher alcohol dosage group (N = 51)
Immediate recall					
Total amount	-	-	-	141.30 (35.37)	132.04 (44.38)
Accuracy rate	-	-	-	.87 (.05)	.86 (.05)
Only delayed recall					
Total amount	62.07 (19.54)	69.10 (20.17)	56.61 (24.18)	120.08 (35.27)	113.30 (30.34)
Accuracy rate	.77 (.08)	.78 (.08)	.79 (.09)	.84 (.05)	.80 (.07)
Two recalls					
Total amount	-	-	-	180.13 (48.58)	170.58 (55.61)
Accuracy rate	-	-	-	.86 (.05)	.85 (.05)

General Discussion

The major aim of this thesis was to examine how alcohol affects eyewitnesses' memory in a recognition task (i.e., a line-up) and during recall (i.e., an investigative interview). The thesis found no effect of alcohol intoxication on the performances of witnesses in line-up situations (Study I). Regarding the interview, no differences were found between sober witnesses and witnesses in the higher alcohol dosage groups in terms of the amount of recalled information (Study II and Study III). In addition, in Study II, alcohol did not have a negative impact on the accuracy of the witnesses' statements. The opposite pattern was found in Study III, whereby alcohol reduced the accuracy of the recall. Although alcohol reduced the accuracy of the reports, the difference was very small. Importantly, overall all the witnesses (both the sober and intoxicated) were able to produce reasonably reliable statements. The mean number of accuracy rates varied between .77-.87 in the two recall studies depending upon group condition, and the standard deviations varied between .05-.09. This means that some witnesses had a reasonable reliable accuracy rate around .69, while other had a high accuracy rate around .91. Furthermore, in terms of the amount of recalled information and accuracy of the statements, it was more advantageous to interview witnesses twice than to conduct only an immediate interview or only a delayed interview. Witnesses who underwent an immediate interview produced statements that contained more details and that had a higher level of accuracy than the witnesses who only had a delayed interview. This was the case both for the sober and the intoxicated witnesses. Thus, an immediate interview was beneficial, even when the witnesses had a moderate level of alcohol intoxication.

In the following sections, the most important findings will be elaborated. More detailed discussions will be offered concerning why there were no differences in the line-up performances of the sober and intoxicated witnesses; the overall poor performance levels of the witnesses in the line-ups; the factors that influence witnesses recall; recall and recognition as separate processes; the limitations of the present thesis; future directions; and finally, some legal implications.

Performance During the Line-Up

There was no difference between the three groups (control, lower alcohol dosage group, and higher alcohol dosage group) in terms of line-up performance, neither in the target-present condition nor in the target-absent condition. This result is consistent with the outcomes of some previous studies (Harvey et al., 2013a; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). Although the result differ from the results of other studies that have shown that intoxicated witnesses perform worse than sober witnesses, at least in one of the line-up conditions (Dysart et al., 2002; King, 2005; Michalec, 1990).

In Study I, all the groups (except for the lower alcohol dosage group in the target-present condition) performed significantly better than would have been expected by chance. Previous research has revealed large variability with respect to how well evewitnesses perform in a line-up task. This may be due to, for example, differences in stimuli, designs, exposure time, attention levels, and retention intervals. Some studies have reported a rate of correct identification of approximately 25% (as in the control group in Study I) in the target-present condition (e.g., Brewer et al., 2008), while other studies have indicated a rate of correct identification of 90% (Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). In brief, the rate of correct identifications in the target-present condition and the rate of correct rejection in the target-absent condition in the present study were not very impressive. For the target-absent condition, the results from Study I are in the lower part of the range (23% for the control group), while other studies have a rate of correct rejection in the range of 60%-75% (Brewer et al., 2008; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). In a forensic context, it is important to remember that the performance levels of eyewitnesses may vary considerably. This makes it difficult to determine the accuracy of the identifications made by individuals in line-up settings.

The poor line-up performance observed in Study I may reflect several factors. One simple, but logical, reason is the one week retention interval. It may be that the witnesses had a difficult time remembering the perpetrators face due to the time that had elapsed since the event. This could be explained by the memory error transience, in that it is natural that the memory fades and becomes weaker as time passes (Schacter, 2001). Another possible explanation is that the culprit's face was in view for approximately 30 seconds. While this is a relatively short time period, it is ecologically valid for crimes in which witnesses see the culprit's face rather briefly. However, since attention has been found to have a greater impact than exposure time on recognition memory (Wells & Olson, 2003), the line-up performance levels in Study I are surprisingly low. In the film, it is obvious who

the culprit is, since he kidnaps a woman and directs a gun towards the witnesses. Thus, the witnesses should have paid attention to the culprit. The film was realistic in the sense that there were several characters involved (two culprits, one victim, and some bystanders). This may have affected the identification performance negatively due to divided attention (Chae, 2010; Palmer, Brewer, McKinnon, & Weber, 2010).

The composition of the line-up could be another explanation for the poor performance. For example, one method is to choose foils based on the verbal description of the suspect provided by the witness, instead of matching the foils to the appearance of the suspect. Matching can lead to a low accuracy rate when the suspect and foils are too similar-looking (Brewer & Palmer, 2010; Wells et al., 2000; Wells & Olson, 2003). Matching was employed in Study I, which may explain the poor performance observed in that study.

The film quality was rather poor, which is another factor that may explain the mediocre line-up performances of the witnesses. Poor image quality has been shown to have a negative impact on line-up performance (Hancock et al., 2000). The appearance of the culprit also differed somewhat between the encoding phase and the recognition task, and change in appearance has been shown to affect negatively line-up performance (Johnston & Edmonds, 2009). However, in reality, it is not uncommon that the culprit's appearance changes from the time of the crime to the time of the line-up. It should again be highlighted that two meta-analysis has found that approximately only 50% of eyewitnesses in laboratory experiment settings make a correct line-up decision (Steblay et al., 2001, 2011). The relatively poor line-up performance may be due to the fact that humans are poor at recognising unfamiliar faces to which they have been exposed for a short period of time (Hancock et al., 2000; Johnston & Edmonds, 2009).

Line-Up Performance and the Alcohol Myopia Theory

As previously described, the alcohol myopia theory (Josephs & Steele, 1990; Steele & Josephs, 1990) might be applied to the eyewitness line-up situation, according to the interpretation of either Dysart et al. (2002) or Harvey et al. (2013a). Overall, the predictions following the alcohol myopia theory seem to hold for the target-present condition, both according to the interpretation of Dysart et al., and Harvey et al. However, the support for the theory is mixed in the target-absent condition.

One explanation for the mixed findings in the target-absent condition might be that the levels of intoxication differed between the studies. The BACs of the participants in the alcohol dosage groups in Study I were in the same range (0.03%-0.09%) as in the study of Yuille and Tollestrup (1990) (0.06%-0.12%), as well as that of Harvey et al. (2013a) who reported a BAC range of 0.05%-0.17%. In the study carried out by Dysart et al. (2002), the BACs ranged from 0.00% to 0.21%, indicating that some of these participants were more intoxicated than the participants in the other studies. However, it is important to highlight that the study of Dysart et al. (2002) used a different design, i.e., immediate show-up while the participants were still intoxicated.

Further on, it is possible that an appropriate interpretation may be that the *entire* criminal event is perceived as a central detail by most (or all) of the witnesses. Thus, then both the sober and intoxicated eyewitnesses would perform on the same level in both the target-present and target-absent line-ups (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011). Clearly, additional studies are needed to resolve the extent (if any) to which the alcohol myopia theory holds true for different line-up situations, and how this is related to the intoxication levels of eyewitnesses.

Performance During the Interview

Total Amount of Information

An overview of the memory performances in the two recall studies (Study II and Study III) is presented in Table 3. In both studies, there was no difference between the control group and the higher alcohol dosage group in terms of the total amount of recalled information. The main finding that there was no difference in the total amount of recalled information between witnesses in the high alcohol dosage group and the control group is in line with the results from some previous studies (Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011), although it is not in accord with the findings from some other studies (e.g., van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990). Studies showing alcohols negative effect on the amount of recalled information might be explained by that intoxication disturbs cellular activity in the brain, primarily in the hippocampus, which can lead to an interruption in the process of transferring information from the short-term memory to the long-term memory (e.g., White, 2003). A reduction in the amount of recalled information may hence be explained by that alcohol consumption leads to a memory failure. More specific, alcohol intoxication may in some cases lead to an error of omission, which means that memories fails to come to mind (Schacter, 2001). This could explain why intoxicated witnesses in some studies remembered slightly less information than sober ones. However, the recall studies in the present thesis, along with some other studies, did not found any difference between the witnesses in the control group and witnesses in the higher alcohol dosage group in terms of the total amount of recalled information. This might be explained by several factors. First, it might be that the manipulation was too weak (i.e., to low dosages of alcohol) or that the sample groups was too small in order to detect a difference that truly exists, referred to as a statistical Type II error (Lamb, 2009). However, it could also be the case that there truly exists no difference between the control group and the higher alcohol dosage group in terms of the completeness of the statements. Second, it could also be that the intoxicated witnesses were negatively affected by alcohol, but that the alcohol consumption led to another memory failure, namely an error of commission. This means that incorrect memories come to mind and are reported (Schacter, 2001). It could explain that the intoxicated witnesses in Study III in the present thesis reported the same amount of information as the sober witnesses, but with a slightly less accuracy rate.

Furthermore, in Study III, when comparing the control group and the lower alcohol dosage group, there was no significant difference with respect to the amount of recalled information, and the lower alcohol dosage group recalled significantly more details than the witnesses in the higher alcohol dosage group. The finding that the control group and lower alcohol dosage group performed on the same level is difficult to explain, but it may be that the lower dosage of alcohol had some stimulant effects on memory. As previously mentioned, alcohol is a drug with both sedative and stimulant effects (Hendler et al., 2013), and stimulant drugs have been found to enhance cognitive performance to a certain extent (e.g., McGaugh & Roozendaal, 2009).

As shown in Table 3, there is a large difference between Study II and Study III in terms of the total amount of information that the witnesses recalled at the delayed interview. The witnesses in Study II recalled a mean number of 57–69 details (with a standard deviation around 22 details), depending on the group condition. Comparative, the witnesses in Study III who only had a single delayed recall reported a mean number of 113–120 details (with a standard deviation around 33 details), also depending on the group condition . This difference where the witnesses in Study III reports more information is surprising, since both studies used the same beverage groups (control group vs. a higher alcohol dosage group),

the same stimulus (a film depicting a kidnapping), and the same retention interval (one week delay). One possible explanation is that the interviews varied slightly across the two studies. The number of questions differed since it was seven questions in Study II and ten questions in Study III. In both studies, the witnesses were asked to tell everything they remembered about the criminal event, the kidnapped women, the main perpetrator, the second perpetrator, the car, and other people in the surrounding area, and they were also asked to provide any additional information that could be of value to the investigation. In Study III, the participants were also asked about whether there were any witnesses to the actual kidnapping, the place where the crime took place, and about the persons present in the car. As a consequence, the interview was slightly shorter in Study II (5–10 minutes) than in Study III (around 15 minutes). In summary, the more extensive interview used in Study III may explain the difference.

An important conclusion from the present thesis work is that it appears to be most beneficial to interview witnesses both immediately and after some time has elapsed, if such opportunities are presented.

Accuracy

In Study II, there were no differences in the accuracy rates as a function of alcohol dosage. One explanation for this may be that the intoxicated individuals omitted details they were not sure about. In Study III, the intoxicated witnesses were slightly less accurate in their testimonies, as compared with their sober counterparts. This finding may be explained by the line of reasoning introduced by Nash and Takarangi (2011); that intoxicated persons may use strategies to fill in the gaps in their memory, which may reduce the accuracy rate. Although this may serve as an explanation for the reduced accuracy seen in Study III, it is important to note that the intoxicated witnesses were only some percentage points less accurate than the sober witnesses. The conclusion might be drawn that the police should not hesitate to interview witnesses who have a BAC <0.10%, since these witnesses might be as accurate in their recollections as sober witnesses.

As shown in Table 3, the accuracy rates were relatively high in both Study II (around 80%) and Study III (around 85%), which is very much in line with previous research (e.g., van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012; Yuille and Tollestrup, 1990). Furthermore, Study III showed that witnesses who were interviewed twice had an accuracy rate of around 80% with respect to the new information they reported at the delayed recall. This was true for both the sober and intoxicated

witnesses. This suggests that new information introduced at a second interview can be trusted to a relative high extent, even when provided by intoxicated witnesses. In contrast, when witnesses altered certain details between the first and second interview, the changed details were more likely to prove to be incorrect than correct. It is noteworthy that only very few of the details were changed, and not all the witnesses changed their details.

Recall vs. Recognition

Whereas there was a lack of difference between the sober and intoxicated eyewitnesses in the line-up (recognition task), a difference was found between these groups in the interview (recall task). One possible explanation is that the line-up was too difficult and that the witnesses were poor at recognising unfamiliar faces, even when sober. This could have caused floor effects.

Research suggests that recognition and recall are two different processes (e.g., Robinson et al., 2000; Pozzulo et al., 2009). This means that if a witness performs poorly in a line-up, it does not necessarily mean that this same witness will perform poorly with respect to recall. The converse may also be true, that a witness does not report much or accurately during the interview but that he or she may still be able to identify the culprit. Previous research has shown that witnesses may be discredited in court if they were intoxicated at the time of the crime (Evans & Schreiber Compo, 2010). The present thesis shows that this picture is perhaps a bit more complicated, in that a moderate dosage of alcohol had a small negative effect on the accuracy of recall but had no effect on recognition. Therefore, when assessing the memory of an intoxicated eyewitness it might be beneficial to distinguish between recall and recognition.

In terms of going beyond the distinction of recall and recognition, one may expect that the complexity of the task moderates how alcohol affects eyewitnesses' memory. Research has showed that complex tasks are more vulnerable to the effect of alcohol intoxication than simpler tasks (see Hindmarch, Kerr, & Sherwood, 1991). For example, previous research has found that alcohol intoxication have a larger negative effect on effortful processing (free recall of learned word lists from episodic memory) than on more automatic processing (estimation of word frequency from word list) (Tracy & Bates, 1999). The same pattern has been found in a literature review examining how alcohol affects the operation of motor

vehicles. The review found that the complexity of the driving task influenced to which extent alcohol affected the persons driving ability, where alcohol had a larger negative effect on high complexity tasks (Martin et al., 2013).

Sex Differences

Studies of sober individuals have suggested that women have an advantage over men with respect to facial recognition, and that women tend to recall a person's appearance more accurately (e.g., Areh, 2011; Horgan et al., 2004; Lovén et al., 2012). However, some previous findings also suggest that alcohol may affect men and women differently, also with respect to memory (e.g., Mumenthaler et al., 1999; Rose & Grant, 2010; Yonker et al., 2005). This thesis did not find any sex differences with respect to line-up performance or the completeness and accuracy of recall. Thus, intoxicated female and male witnesses were equally good as witnesses. This outcome is something that practitioners within the legal system may want to consider: female and male witnesses with approximately the same levels of BAC will likely be equally capable of remembering the crime. However, if the female witness and the male witness have consumed approximately the same amount of alcohol, then it is possible that the female witness will have a higher BAC (e.g., Graham et al., 1998). Thus, the female might than have a poorer memory.

Limitations

The experiments were conducted in a laboratory, and this entails some limitations. First, due to ethical reasons, the extent of intoxication was limited a maximum BAC of 0.12 % (with a mean of 0.05% and standard deviation of 0.02), whereas witnesses in real life often have higher levels of intoxication (Evans et al., 2009; Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011). For example, a study estimated BACs (calculated from formulas) based on the amount of alcohol content found in college party mixed drinks, and found that the BACs among both female and male high consumers was above 0.08%. In more detail, the BACs of female high consumers ranged from 0.09%-0.19% and for male high consumers between

0.07%-0.16% (Barnett, Wei, & Czachowski, 2009). Also, in many European countries, the drink and drive limit is higher than the level of intoxication of the participants in the lower alcohol dosage group in the present study. Furthermore, in the United Kingdom, Ireland, Luxembourg, Malta, and some states in the US, the drink- and drive limit is a BAC of 0.08%. This level of intoxication corresponds to the BAC levels achieved by some of the participants in the higher alcohol dosage group in the present study. In other words, some of the participants in the higher alcohol dosage group would, in some European countries, be considered sober enough to drive. This exemplifies the difficulties associated with conducting experiments that are both ecologically valid and ethically sound.

Second, observing a crime in a laboratory setting is different in many respects from witnessing a real crime (Tollestrup, Turtle, & Yuille, 1994). For example, many real crimes cause the eyewitness to experience anxiety and fear (Chae, 2010; Penrod et al., 1995). A limitation of the present work is that our participants were not asked to assess their emotional responses to the criminal event. Therefore, we could not control for this in our analysis. However, for ethical reasons, the degree of violence in the film was not that high. It is therefore unlikely that our participants experienced any high levels of distress while witnessing the crime. That our participants watched a staged crime in a safe environment and that they knew that an event would enfold makes the experiment different from a real-life situation. Future research may employ set-ups with higher ecological validities, to allow generalisation of the findings to a real-life context.

Third, the participants were healthy and highly functional university students. Eyewitness research has found that college students perform better at recall tasks than other parts of the population (Bartlett & Memon, 2006). Thus, the generalizability of the present results may be limited to younger healthy adult witnesses. Future studies may examine how alcohol affects the memory performances of older eyewitnesses. In addition, the participants were screened before they could take part in the study, so as to include only individuals who had some (although not too much) previous experience of alcohol consumption. As a consequence, our findings cannot be generalised to novice drinkers, for whom the negative effects of alcohol may be greater due to their low levels of tolerance. Similarly, our findings cannot be generalised to alcohol-dependent individuals who have a high tolerance for alcohol.

Fourth, the present thesis investigated anterograde alcohol-induced memory impairments. In real-life cases, it may be so that a crime is committed during the time the witnesses are consuming alcohol, or that alcohol is consumed shortly after witnessing a crime; this would then be related to retrograde alcohol-induced amnesia. Therefore, it is important to reiterate that the studies presented in this thesis primarily generalise to cases that concern anterograde impairments, hence, to cases where alcohol has been consumed shortly before the criminal event.

Future Directions

Future research may profit from examining intoxicated witnesses who perceive both visual and auditory information. Studies of sober earwitnesses have found that they are rather poor at voice identification. However, they are rather good at remembering the main content of overheard conversations, which might be useful in criminal investigations (Öhman, 2013). This line of research could be of relevance for intoxicated witnesses, since it is frequently the case that witnesses both hear and see critical information.

This thesis did not aim to examine whether the alcohol myopia theory can be applied to intoxicated witnesses' memory. However, future studies may profit from examining whether the theory can be generalised to intoxicated witnesses. For example, one could code and analyse the number of central and peripheral details that sober and intoxicated witnesses report during an interview, as has been done in some previous studies (e.g., Schreiber Compo, Evans, Kemp, et al., 2011; van Oorsouw & Merckelbach, 2012). In addition, following the example of Harvey et al. (2013a), eye tracking could be used to examine with precision which details the witnesses focus their attention on during a criminal event, which would be useful for testing the alcohol myopia theory.

Many real-life crimes evoke strong emotional responses in the viewer. There is however only a limited amount of research that has investigated whether emotional engaging events have a better resistance to alcohol than more neutral events (Spinetta et al., 2008). In a relatively recent doctoral dissertation, Knowles (2005) examined the matter and found that alcohol-intoxicated persons remembered emotional engaging stimulus better than neutral stimulus. However, the participants in the studies were instructed to learn simple stimulus (e.g., words), which has limited generalizability to real-life contexts. As previously mentioned, witnessing a violent crime can lead to negative emotions such as fear and anxiety (Chae, 2010; Penrod et al., 1995). Also as earlier noted, alcohol is a drug with both stimulant and sedative effects. One of the sedative effects is the anxiolytic effect, which means that consumers of alcohol may experience anxiety reduction (Hendler et al., 2013). Hence, it is not difficult to understand the need of further research which examines how witnesses under the influence of alcohol remembers an emotionally engaging crime as compared to a less emotionally engaging crime. Furthermore, it is important to conduct studies that more closely examine how eyewitness memory is impaired in relation to the level of alcohol intoxication, since the risk of memory impairments can be expected to be increased at higher levels of intoxication (e.g., Lee et al., 2009; Wetherill & Fromme, 2011). In a laboratory environment, a set up with high intoxication levels would be difficult to establish due to ethical considerations. One possible solution could be to conduct studies in real bars, as in the studies reported by Dysart et al. (2002) and van Oorsouw and Merckelbach (2012). Although such studies might have higher ecological validity, there are also disadvantages with such set-ups (e.g. reduced control of manipulations). It is important to conduct studies with different methods, so as to arrive at results that are relevant in different contexts (Chae, 2010; Memon, Mastroberardino, & Fraser, 2008).

Final Remarks and Legal Implications

A commonly held belief is that alcohol negatively affects memory. A consequence of this, as noted by Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al. (2011), is that intoxicated eyewitnesses often have a bad reputation. As indicated by Evans and Schreiber Compo (2010), intoxicated witnesses may be discredited by representatives of the criminal justice system. However, this thesis shows that the picture may be more complex, and that several factors are important when assessing the testimonies of intoxicated eyewitnesses. Based on the results of the present studies, four recommendations are presented. Before outlining these recommendations it is important to acknowledge that the recommendations only relates to witnesses who have a BAC <0.10%. For the understanding of those results; a BAC of 0.10% equals a per mille of 1.0 ‰, which is a more commonly used unit in some countries, for example in Sweden.

In the present thesis, in line with other studies that have examined witnesses with a BAC of around 0.10% (e.g., Schreiber Compo, Evans, Carol, Villalba, et al., 2011; Yuille & Tollestrup, 1990), alcohol did not have any large significant negative effects on memory. Thus, the first recommendation is that the police should measure the intoxication level of a witness using a Breathalyzer, as this measurement can function as an indication of how much the level of alcohol intoxication might influence memory performance. The author of the present thesis is aware of the fact that the police sometimes not have the opportunity to be present quite immediately at the scene of the crime in order to objectively measure the witnesses' intoxication level. As noted by Palmer et al. (2013), police officers in the US was primarily informed that a witness had consumed alcohol or another drug when the witness reported this (in 88% of the cases), followed by that the police took a Breathalyzer test (9%), or that the police observed the witness engaging in alcohol or other drug intake (3%). It could also be the case that the police arrives to the scene of the crime but primarily is focused on measuring the BACs of a victim or a potential suspect with a Breathalyzer, instead of the witnesses' BAC. However, as recommended in this thesis, it would be beneficial to also measure the witnesses' intoxication level. If this is not possible, then one solution is obviously to ask the witnesses about the amount of consumed alcohol at the time of the crime. Expert witnesses are sometimes asked to perform retrograde estimation concerning which intoxication level an individual might have reached after a certain drinking event. There are formulas (e.g., the revised Widmark formula) which can be used in order to calculate approximately which BAC an individual had at the time of consumption (Posey & Mozayani, 2007). However, it is well established fact that many factors (e.g., body weight, tolerance to the drug, sex, rate of alcohol absorption, genetics, mental and physical health) are involved in the relationship between a consumed amount of alcohol and the actual BAC level. Hence, two witnesses consuming the same amount of alcohol could reach different intoxication levels (e.g., Lee et al., 2009; Paton, 2005). Also, self-reports were individuals estimate how many glasses of alcohol they have consumed can be misguiding (Barnett et al., 2009). Therefore, it is more beneficial to objectively measure the BAC of a witness through a Breathalyzer quite immediately if possible, than to reconstruct an approximately intoxication level using formulas.

Alcohol proved to have a somewhat negative effect on the performances of the witnesses during investigative interviews (i.e., the recall task). This is in line with previous research that has shown that alcohol may reduce the accuracy of witnesses' statements. However, the intoxicated witnesses performed only slightly worse than the sober witnesses. Importantly, all witnesses were rather reliable in their statements. Thus, the second recommendation is that the police should not hesitate to conduct investigative interviews with intoxicated witnesses.

The third recommendation is to interview intoxicated witnesses already at the crime scene, if this is possible. This thesis shows that witnesses interviewed immediately after an event remembered more information, and with a higer accuracy rate than witnesses who are interviewed after a delay of one week. However, witnesses who are interviewed twice recall the largest amount of information. Here it should be noted that new information added in a follow-up interview tends to be rather reliable, and this is true also for witnesses who were intoxicated at the time they observed the crime.

In agreement with the majority of the previous studies, the present thesis finds that alcohol-intoxicated witnesses do not perform worse than sober witnesses in a line-up (i.e., the recognition task). Therefore, the fourth recommendation is that the police might arrange line-ups also for intoxicated witnesses, and they should expect that these witnesses will perform at the same level as sober ones. However, it is important to bear in mind that recognition of an unfamiliar face is often a difficult task, even for sober witnesses (Hancock et al., 2000; Johnston & Edmonds, 2009; Leveroni et al., 2000).

In summary, to elucidate fully how alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses remember a crime, future studies should focus on vary the intoxication levels, the criminal event, the retention interval, and the type of memory task. The present thesis indicates that alcohol-intoxicated eyewitnesses might be better than their reputation, and that witnesses who have a low to moderate intoxication level (BAC <0.10%) can still be rather reliable sources of information in criminal investigations.
References

- Alcohol Countermeasure Systems Corp. (2006). *Alert J5: Portable breath alcohol tester*. Mississauga, Ontario, Canada.
- Alderazi, Y., & Brett, F. (2007). Alcohol and the nervous system. *Current Diagnostic Pathology*, 13, 203-209. doi: 10.1016/j.cdip.2007.04.004
- Allwood, C. M., Ask, K., & Granhag, P. A. (2005). The cognitive interview: Effects on the realism in witnesses' confidence in their free recall. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 11*, 183-198. doi: 10.1080 /1068 31605 123313 29943
- Allwood, C. M., Granhag, P. A., & Jonsson, A. C. (2006). Child witnesses' metamemory realism. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 47, 461-470. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2006.00530.x
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed., text rev.). Washington, DC. doi: 10.1176/ appi.books.9780890423349
- Areh, I. (2011). Gender-related differences in eyewitness testimony. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 50, 559-563. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.11.027
- Atkinson, R.C., & Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). Human memory: A proposed system and its control processes. In K.W. Spence (Ed.), *The psychology of learning and motivation: Advances in research and theory*, Vol 2 (pp. 89-195). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Babor, T., Higgins-Biddle, J. C., Saunders, J. B., & Monteiro, M. G. (2001). AUDIT. The alcohol use disorders identification test: Guidelines for use in primary care (2nd ed.). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Baddeley, A. (1991). Where did you park your car? Analysis of a naturalistic longterm recency effect. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, *3*, 297-313.
- Baddeley, A. (2000). The episodic buffer: A new component of working memory? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *4*, 417-423. doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01 538-2
- Baddeley, A. (2001). The concept of episodic memory. In A. Baddeley, M. Conway, & J. Aggleton (Eds.) *Episodic memory: New directions in research*. (pp. 1-10). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Baddeley, A. (2002). *Human memory: Theory and practice. Revised edition*. Hove, UK: Psychology Press Ltd.
- Baddeley, A. (2004). The psychology of memory. In A.D. Baddeley, M.D. Kopelman & B.A. Wilson (Eds.), *The essential handbook of memory*

disorders for clinicians (pp.1-13). West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

- Baraona, E., Abittan, C. S., Dohmen, K., Moretti, M., Pozzato, G., Chayes, Z. W., Schaefer, C., & Lieber, C. S. (2001). Gender differences in pharmacokinetics of alcohol. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 25, 502-507. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2001.tb02242.x
- Barnett, N. P., Wei, J., & Czachowski, C. (2009). Measured alcohol content in college party mixed drinks. *Psychology and Addictive Behaviors*, 23, 152-156. doi: 10.1037/a0013611
- Bartlett, J. C., & Memon, A. (2006). Eyewitness memory of young and older eyewitnesses. In R. C. L. Lindsay, D. F. Ross, J. D. Read & M. P. Toglia (Eds.), *Handbook of eyewitness psychology: Memory for people* (pp. 309-338). Mahwah: NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Bergman, H. (1994). *AUDIT. The alcohol use disorder identification test. Manual. Svensk översättning.* Stockholm, Sweden: Karolinska institutet.
- Bisby, J. A., Leitz, J. R., Morgan, C. J., & Curran, H. V. (2010). Decreases in recollective experience following acute alcohol: A dose-response study. *Psychopharmacology*, 208, 67-74. doi: 10.1007/s00213-009-1709-y
- Breitmeier, D., Seeland-Schulze, I., Hecker, H., & Schneider, U. (2007). The influence of blood alcohol concentrations of around 0.03% on neuropsychological functions. A double-blind, placebo-controlled investigation. *Addiction Biology*, *12*, 183-189. doi: 10.1111/j.1369-1600.2007.0 0056.x
- Brewer, N., Keast, A., & Rishworth, A. (2002). The confidence-accuracy relationship in eyewitness identification: The effects of reflection and disconfirmation on correlation and calibration. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 8, 44-56. doi: 10.1037//1076-898x.8.1.44
- Brewer, N., & Palmer, M. A. (2010). Eyewitness identification tests. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *15*, 77-96. doi: 10.1348/135532509X414765
- Brewer, N., Weber, N., Clark, A., & Wells, G. (2008). Distinguishing accurate from inaccurate eyewitness identifications with an optional deadline procedure. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 14*, 397-414. doi: 10.1080/106831 60701770229
- Brewer, N., & Wells, G. L. (2006). The confidence-accuracy relationship in eyewitness identification: Effects of lineup instructions, foil similarity, and target-absent base rates. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 12, 11-30. doi: 10.1037/1076-898x.12.1.11
- Brown, J., Brignell, C. M., Dhiman, S. K., Curran, H. V., & Kamboj, S. K. (2010). Acute effects of alcohol on memory: Impact of emotional context and serial

position. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 93, 428-434. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2009.12.010

- Bruce, K. R., & Phil, R. O. (1997). Forget "drinking to forget": Enhanced consolidation of emotionally charged memory by alcohol. *Experimental and Clinical Psychoparmacology*, 5, 242-250. doi: 10.1037//1064-1297.5.3.242
- Casiere, D. A., & Ashton, N. L. (1996). Eyewitness accuracy and gender. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 83, 914-914. doi: 10.2466/pms.1996.83.3.914
- Centralförbundet för alkohol- och narkotikaupplysning. (2008). *Drogutveckling i Sverige 2008* (Rapport nummer 113). [Drug trends in Sweden 2008 (Report No. 113)]. Retrived from http://www.can.se/sv/Rapporter/Drogutvecklingeni-Sverige-2008/
- Chae, Y. (2010). Application of laboratory research on eyewitness testimony. Journal of Forensic Psychology Practice, 10, 252-261. doi:10.1080/152289 30903550608
- Clark, S. E. (2003). A memory and decision model for eyewitness identification. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 17, 629-654. doi: 10.1002/acp.891
- Clifasefi, S. L., Takarangi, M. K. T., & Bergman, J. S. (2006). Blind drunk: The effects of alcohol on inattentional blindness. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 20, 697-704. doi: 10.1002/acp.1222
- Conway, M. A. (2001). Sensory-perceptual episodic memory and its context: Autobiographical memory. In A. Baddeley, M. Conway, & J. Aggleton (Eds). *Episodic Memory: New directions in research*. (pp.53-70). New York, NY: Oxford University Press Inc.
- Craik, F. I. M., & Lockhart, R. S. (1972). Levels of processing: A framework for memory research. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 11, 671-684. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5371(72)80001-X
- Cutler, B. L., & Kovera, M. B. (2010). *Evaluating eyewitness identification*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press Inc.
- Derogatis, L. (1983). SCL-90-R. Manual II. Towson, MD: Clinical Psychometric Research.
- Douglas, F. R. (2002). Clinical review: Myopia. British Medical Journal, 324, 1195-1198.
- Dysart, J. E., Lindsay, R. C., MacDonald, T. K., & Wicke, C. (2002). The intoxicated witness: Effects of alcohol on identification accuracy from showups. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87, 170-175. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.87.1.170
- Eksten, A. (2007). Misshandel mellan obekanta kan fler brott klaras upp? [Violence between unfamiliars - can more crimes be resolved?] (Report No. 2007:12). Stockholm, Sweden: National Council for Crime Prevention.

- Ekström, E. (2009). *Misshandel mellan obekanta kan fler brott klaras upp?* [Violence between unfamiliars - can more crimes be resolved?] (Report No. 2009:16). Stockholm, Sweden: National Council for Crime Prevention.
- Evans, J. R., & Schreiber Compo, N. (2010). Mock jurors' perceptions of identifications made by intoxicated eyewitnesses. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 16, 191-210. doi: 10.1080/10683160802612890
- Evans, J. R., Schreiber Compo, N., & Russano, M. B. (2009). Intoxicated witnesses and suspects: Procedures and prevalence according to law enforcement. *Psychology, Public Policy and Law, 15*, 194-221. doi: 10.1037/a0016837
- Fahsing, I. A., Ask, K., & Granhag, P. A. (2004). The man behind the mask: Accuracy and predictors of eyewitness offender descriptions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 722-729. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.89.4.722
- Fisher, R. P. (1995). Interviewing victims and witnesses of crime. *Psychology, Public Policy and Law, 1,* 732-764. doi: 10.1037/1076-8971.1.4.732
- Fisher, R. P., & Schreiber, N. (2007). Interview protocols for improving eyewitness memory. In Toglia, M., Lindsay, R., Ross, D. & Reed, J. (Eds.) The handbook of eyewitness psychology: Volume One. Memory for events. (pp.53-80). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum Associates.
- Gardiner, J. M. (2001). Sensory-perceptual episodic memory and its context: Autobiographical memory. In A. Baddeley, M. Conway, & J. Aggleton (Eds). *Episodic Memory: New directions in research*. (pp.11-30). New York, NY: Oxford University Press Inc.
- Garfinkel, S. N., Dienes, Z., & Duka, T. (2006). The effect of alcohol and repetition at encoding on implicit and explicit false memories. *Psychopharmacology*, *188*, 498-508. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0480-6
- Gilbert, J. A. E., & Fisher, R. P. (2006). The effects of varied retrieval cues on reminiscence in eyewitness memory. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 20, 723-739. doi: 10.1002/acp.1232
- Graham, K., Wilsnack, R., Dawson, D., & Vogeltanz, N. (1998). Should alcohol consumption measures be adjusted for gender differences? *Addiction*, *93*, 1137-1147. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.1998.93811372.x
- Granhag, P. A. (1997). Realism in eyewitness confidence as a function of type of event witnessed and repeated recall. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 599-613. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.82.4.599
- Granhag, P. A., & Spjut, E. (2001). Children's recall of the unfortunate fakir: A further test of the enchanced cognitive interview. In R. Roesch, R. R. Corrado & R. J. Dempster (Eds.), *Psychology in the courts: International advances in knowledge* (pp. 209-222). London, UK: Routledge.

- Granhag, P. A., Memon, A., & Roos af Hjelmsäter, E. (2010). Social influence on eyewitness memory. In P. A. Granhag (Ed.), *Forensic psychology in context: Nordic and international approaches*. (pp.139-153). Cullompton, Devon: Willian Publishing.
- Granhag, P. A., Ask, K., & Mac Giolla, E. (2013). Eyewitness recall: An overview of estimator- based research. In T. J. Perfect & D. S. Lindsay (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of applied memory*. (pp.541-558). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Grüter, T., Grüter, M., & Carbon, C. C. (2008). Neural and genetic foundations of face recognition and prosopagnosia. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 2, 79-97. doi: 10.1348/174866407x231001
- Government of South Australia. (2012). *Alcohol and its effects*. Drug and alcohol services South Australia. Retrieved from http://www.dassa.sa.gov.au/site/page.cfm?u=122#effects.
- Gudjonsson, G. H., Hannesdottir, K., Agustsson, T. P., Sigurdsson, J. F., Gudmundsdottir, A., Pordardottir, P., Petursson, H. (2004). The relationship of alcohol withdrawal symptoms to suggestibility and compliance. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 10*, 169-177. doi: 10.1080/1068316031000 1609 979
- Hall, J. A. (1984). Nonverbal sex differences: Communication accuracy and expressive style. Baltimore, MD: John Hopkins University Press.
- Hancock, P. J. B., Bruce, V., & Burton, A. M. (2000). Recognition of unfamiliar faces. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4, 330-337. doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01519-9
- Harvey, A. J., Kneller, W., & Campbell, A. (2013a). The elusive effect of alcohol intoxication on visual attention and eyewitness memory. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 27, 617-624. doi: 10.1002/acp.2940
- Harvey, A. J., Kneller, W., & Campbell, A. (2013b). The effect of alcohol intoxication on attention and memory for visual scenes. *Memory*, 21, 969-980. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2013. 770033
- Hendler, R. A., Ramchandani, V. A., Gilman, J., & Hommer, D. W. Stimulant and sedative effects of alcohol. (2013). *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences*, 13, 489-509. doi: 10.1007/7854 2011 135
- Herlitz, A., Nilsson, L. G., & Backman, L. (1997). Gender differences in episodic memory. *Memory & Cognition*, 25, 801-811. doi: 10.3758/BF03211324
- Herlitz, A., & Rehnman, J. (2008). Sex differences in episodic memory. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 17, 52-56. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00547.x

- Hildebrand Karlén, M. (2013). Alcohol intoxicated witnesses to intimate partner violence: Memory and perception of aggression and guilt. (Licentiate thesis). University of Gothenburg, Sweden.
- Hindmarch, I., Kerr, J. S., Sherwood, N. (1991). The effects of alcohol and other drugs on psychomotor performance and cognitive functions. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 26, 71-79.
- Holdstock, L., & de Wit, H. (1998). Individual differences in the biphasic effects of ethanol. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22, 1903-1911. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.1998.tb05897.x
- Horgan, T. G., Mast, M. S., Hall, J. A., & Carter, J. D. (2004). Gender differences in memory for the appearance of others. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30, 185-196. doi: 10.1177/0146167203259928
- Jaslin, P. (2010, June 22). Inget åtal för knivskärning. [No prosecution for stabbers]. Vestmanlands läns tidning. Retrieved from http://vlt.se/nyheter/ hallstasura/1.873779- inget-atal-for-knivskarning
- Johnsson, M. (2010, May 21). Knivskärare kan gå fria. [Stabbers might go free]. Vestmanlands läns tidning. Retrieved from http://vlt.se/nyheter/hallstasura/ 1.836750-knivskarare-kan-ga-fria
- Johnston, R. A., & Edmonds, A. J. (2009). Familiar and unfamiliar face recognition: A review. *Memory*, 17, 577-596. doi:10.1080/09658210902976 969
- Josephs, R. A., & Steele, C. M. (1990). The two faces of alcohol myopia: Attentional mediation of psychological stress. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 99, 115-126. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.99.2.115
- Kassin, S. M., & Gudjonsson, G. H. (2004). The psychology of confessions: A review of the literature and issues. *Psychological Science*, 5, 33-67. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-1006.2004.00016.x
- Kennerknecht, I., Grüeter, T., Welling, B., Wentzek, S., Horst, J., Edwards, S., & Grüeter, M. (2006). First report of prevalence of non-syndromic hereditary prosopagnosia (HPA). *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, 140A, 1617-1622. doi: 10.1002/Ajmg.A.31343
- Kerr, W. C., Patterson, D., Koenen, M. A., & Greenfield, T. K. (2009). Large drinks are no mistake: Glass size, not shape, affects alcoholic beverage drink pours. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 28, 360-365. doi: 10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00056.x
- Kershaw, C., Nicholas, S., & Walker, A. (2008). Crime in England and Wales 2007/08. Home office statistical bullentin 07/08. Retrieved from http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/shared/bsp/hi/pdfs/17_07_08_crime_statistics_20070 8.pdf

- King, B. M. (2005). Alcohol and recognition of novel faces: Does alcohol ingestion increase the rate of false identifications? (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No. 3220582)
- Knowles, S. K. Z. (2005). The effect of alcohol on memory for emotionally significant events. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from database of Gothenburg University Library, Sweden.
- Knowles, S. K. Z., & Duka, T. (2004). Does alcohol affect memory for emotional and non-emotional experiences in different ways? *Behavioral Pharmacology*, 15, 111-121. doi: 10.1097/00008877-200403000-00003
- Koriat, A., & Goldsmith, M. (1996). Monitoring and control processes in the strategic regulation of memory accuracy. *Psychological Review*, 103, 490-571. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.103.3.490
- Koriat, A., Goldsmith, M., Schneider, W., & Nakash-Dura, M. (2001). The credibility of children's testimony: Can children control the accuracy of their memory reports? *Journal of Experimental and Child Psychology*, 79, 405-437. doi: 10.1006/jecp.2000.2612
- Kuntsche, E., Rehm, J., & Gmel, G. (2004). Characteristics of binge drinkers in Europe. Social Science and Medicine, 59, 113-127. doi: 10.1016/j.soc scimed.2003.10.009
- Kvavilashvili, L., & Ellis, J. A. (1999). The effects of positive and negative placebos on human memory performances. *Memory*, 7, 421-437. doi: 10.1080/741944922
- Lamb, C. R. (2009). Statistical briefing: Type 1 and type 2 errors. *Veterinary Radiology & Ultrasound*, 50, 239. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8261.2009.01524.x
- Lee, H., Roh, S., & Kim, D. J. (2009). Alcohol-induced blackout. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 6, 2783-2792. doi: 10.3390/ijerph6112783
- Leveroni, C. L., Seidenberg, M., Mayer, A. R., Mead, L. A., Binder, J. R., & Rao, S. M. (2000). Neural systems underlying the recognition of familiar and newly learned faces. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 878-886.
- Lindholm, T., & Christianson, S. A. (1998). Gender effects in eyewitness accounts of a violent crime. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 4*, 323-339. doi: 10.1080/106 83169808401763
- Lindsay, D. S., Nilsen, E., & Read, J. D. (2000). Witnessing-condition heterogeneity and witnesses' versus investigators' confidence in the accuracy of witnesses' identification decisions. *Law and Human Behavior*, 24, 685-697. doi: 10.1023/A:1005504320565
- Lindsay, R. C. L., Mansour, J. K., Beaudry, J. L., Leach, A. M., & Bertrand, M. I. (2009a). Beyond sequential presentation: Misconceptions and mis-

representations of sequential lineups. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *14*, 31-34. doi: 10.1348/135532508x382104

- Lindsay, R. C. L., Mansour, J. K., Beaudry, J. L., Leach, A. M., & Bertrand, M. I. (2009b). Sequential lineup presentation: Patterns and policy. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 14, 13-24. doi: 10.1348/135532508x382708
- Lister, R. G., Gorenstein, C., Fisher-Flowers, D., Weingartner, H. J., & Eckardt, M. J. (1991). Dissociation of the acute effects of alcohol on implicit and explicit memory processes. *Neuropsychologia*, 29, 1205-1212. doi: 10.1016/0028-39 32(91)90034-6
- Longmore, C. A., Liu, C. H., & Young, A. W. (2008). Learning faces from photographs. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 34, 77-100. doi: 10.1037/0096-1523.34.1.77
- Lovén, J., Herlitz, A., & Rehnman, J. (2011). Women's own-gender bias in face recognition memory: The role of attention at encoding. *Experimental Psychology*, 58, 333-340. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169/A000100
- Lovén, J., Rehnman, J., Wiens, S., Lindholm, T., Peira, N., & Herlitz, A. (2012). Who are you looking at? The influence of face gender on visual attention and memory for own- and other-race faces. *Memory*, 20, 321-331. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2012.658064
- MacDonald, T. K., MacDonald, G., Zanna, M. P., & Fong, G. T. (2000). Alcohol, sexual arousal, and intentions to use condoms in young men: Applying alcohol myopia theory to risky sexual behavior. *Health Psychology*, 19, 290-298. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.3.290
- Malpass, R. S., Tredoux, C. G., Schreiber Compo, N., McQuiston-Surrett, D., Maclin, O. H., Zimmerman, L. A., & Topp, L. D. (2008). Study space analysis for policy development. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 22, 789-801. doi: 10.1002/Acp.1483
- Malpass, R. S., Tredoux, C. G., & McQuiston-Surrett, D. (2009). Response to Lindsay, Mansour, Beaudry, Leach and Bertrand's "Sequential lineup presentation: Patterns and policy". *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 14, 25-30. doi: 10.1348/135532508X384094
- Mann, R.E., Cho-Young, J., & Vogel-Sprott, M. (1984). Retrograde enhancement by alcohol of delayed free recall performance. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry* and Behavior, 20, 639-642. doi: 10.1016/0091-3057(84)90317-4
- Martin, T. L., Solbeck, P. A. M., Mayers, D. L., Langille, R. M., Buczek, Y., & Pelletier, M. R. (2013). A review of alcohol-impaired driving: The role of blood alcohol concentration and complexity of the driving task. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 58, 1238-1250. doi: 10.1111/1556-4029.12227

- McGaugh, J. L., & Roozendaal, B. (2009). Drug enhancement of memory consolidation: Historical perspective and neurobiological implications. *Psychopharmacology*, 202, 3-14. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1285-6
- McQuiston-Surrett, D., Malpass, R. S., & Tredoux, C. G. (2006). Sequential vs. simultaneous lineups: A review of methods, data, and theory. *Psychology*, *Public Policy, and Law*, 12, 137-169. doi: 10.1037/1076-8971.12.2.137
- Memon, A., Hope, L., & Bull, R. (2003). Exposure duration: Effects on eyewitness accuracy and confidence. *British Journal of Psychology*, 94, 339-354. doi: 10.1348/000712603767876262
- Memon, A., Mastroberardino, S., & Fraser, J. (2008). Munsterberg's legacy: What does eyewitness research tell us about the reliability of eyewitness testimony? *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 22, 841-851. doi: 10.1002/acp. 1487
- Michalec, E. M. (1990). *The effects of alcohol intoxication and arousal on eyewitness identification and recall*. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No. 9027801)
- Mintzer, M. Z. (2007). The acute effects of alcohol on memory: A review of laboratory studies in healthy adults. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*, 6, 397-403. doi: 10.1515/IJDHD.2007.6.4.397
- Moulton, P. L., Petros., T. V., Apostal, K. J., Park, R. V., Ronning, E. A., King, B. M., & Penland, J. G. (2005). Alcohol-induced impairment and enhancement of memory: A test of the interference theory. *Physiology & Behavior*, 85, 240-245. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.03.011
- Mumenthaler, M. S., Taylor, J. L., O'Hara, R., & Yesavage, J. A. (1999). Gender differences in moderate drinking effects. *Alcohol Research & Health*, 23, 55-64.
- Nash, R.A., & Takarangi, M. (2011). Reconstructing alcohol-induced memory blackouts. *Memory*, 19, 566-573. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2011.590508
- Nilsen, P., Holmqvist, M., Hultgren, E., Bendtsen, P., & Cedergren, M. (2008). Alcohol use before and during pregnancy and factors influencing change among Swedish women. Acta Obstetricia Gynecological Scandinavica, 87, 768-774. doi: 10.1080/00016340802179830
- Nutt, D. J. (2010). Drug harms in the UK: A multicriteria decision analysis. *Lancet*, *376*, 1558-1568. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61462-6
- Odinot, G., & Wolters, G. (2006). Repeated recall, retention interval and the accuracy-confidence relation in witness memory. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 20, 973-985. doi: 10.1002./acp.1263
- Palmer, M. A., Brewer, N., McKinnon, A. C., & Weber, N. (2010). Phenomenological reports diagnose accuracy of eyewitness identification

decisions. Acta Psychologica, 133, 137-145. doi: 10.1016/j. actpsy.2009.11. 002

- Palmer, F. T., Flowe, H. D., Takarangi, M. K. T., & Humphries, J. E. (2013). Intoxicated witnesses and suspects: An archival analysis of their involvement in criminal case processing. *Law and Human Behavior*, 37, 54-59. doi: 10.1037/lbb0000010
- Paton, A. (2005). Alcohol in the body. *BMJ*, 330, 85-87. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.330.74 82.85
- Penrod, S. D., Fulero, S. M., & Cutler, B. L. (1995). Expert psychological testimony in the United States: A new playing field? *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 11, 65-72. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.11.1.65
- Perry, P. J., Argo, T. R., Barnett, M. J., Liesveld, J. L., Liskow, B., Hernan, J. M., & Brabson, M. A. (2006). The association of alcohol-induced blackouts and grayouts to blood alcohol concentrations. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, *51*, 896-899. doi: 10.1111/j.1556-4029.2006.00161.x
- Posey, D., & Mozayani, A. (2007). The estimation of blood alcohol concentration: Widmark revisited. *Forensic Science, Medicine, and Pathology*, *3*, 33-39. doi: 10.1385/FSMP:3:1:33
- Pozzulo, J. D., Dempsey, J. L., Crescini, C., & Lemieux, J. M. T. (2009). Examining the relation between eyewitness recall and recognition for children and adults. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 15*, 409-424. doi: 10.1080/10683160802279625
- Ray, S., Bates, M. E., & Ely, B. M. (2004). Alcohol's dissociation of implicit and explicit memory processes: Implications of a parallel distributed processing model of semantic priming. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 12, 118-125. doi: 10.1037/1064-1297.12.2.118
- Read, J. D., Yuille, J. C., & Tollestrup, P. (1992). Recollections of a robbery: Effects of arousal and alcohol upon recall and person identification. *Law and Human Behavior*, 16, 425-446. doi: 10.1007/BF02352268
- Read, J. D., & Connolly, D. A. (2007). The effect of delay on long-term memory for witnessed events. In M. P. Toglia, J. D. Read, D. F. Ross, & R. C. L. Lindsay (Eds.). *Handbook of witness psychology: Volume 1: Memory for events* (pp.117-155). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum Associates Inc.
- Rehnman, J., & Herlitz, A. (2007). Women remember more faces than men do. *Acta Psychologica*, 124, 344-355. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2006.04.004
- Rikspolisstyrelsen. (2005). Vittneskonfrontation. [Witness confrontation]. Report no. 2005:2. Stockholm, Sweden: Carlshamn Tryck & Media.

- Robinson, M. D., Johnson, J. T., & Robertson, D. A. (2000). Process versus content in eyewitness metamemory monitoring. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 6, 207-221. doi: 10.1037//1076-898x.6.3.207
- Roos af Hjelmsäter, E., Strömwall, L., & Granhag, P. A. (2011). The selfadministered interview: A means of improving children's eyewitness performance? *Psychology, Crime & Law, 18*, 897-915. doi: 10.1080/106831 6X.2011.582844
- Rose, M. E., & Grant, J. E. (2010). Alcohol-induced blackout phenomenology, biological basis and gender differences. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 4, 61-73. doi: 10.1097/ADM.0b013e3181e1299d
- Schacter, D. L. (2001). *The seven sins of memory: How the mind forgets and remembers*. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Schreiber Compo, N., Evans, J. R., Carol, R. N., Kemp, D., Villalba, D., Ham, L. S., & Rose, S. (2011). Alcohol intoxication and memory for events: A snapshot of alcohol myopia in a real-world drinking scenario. *Memory*, 19, 202-210. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2010.546802
- Schreiber Compo, N., Evans, J. R., Carol, R. N., Villalba, D., Ham, L. S., Garcia, T., & Rose, S. (2011). Intoxicated eyewitnesses: Better than their reputation? *Law and Human Behavior*, 36, 77-86. doi: 10.1007/s10979-011-9273-5
- Shapiro, P. N., & Penrod, S. (1986). Meta-analysis of facial identification studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 100, 139-156. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.100.2.139
- Spinetta, M. J., Woodle, M. T., Feinberg, L. M., Stroud, C., Schallert, K., Cormack, L. K., & Schallert, T. (2008). Alcohol-induced retrograde memory impairments in rats: Prevention by caffeine. *Psychopharmacology*, 201, 361-371. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1294-5
- Steblay, N. K. (1997). Social influence in eyewitness recall: A meta-analytic review of lineup instruction effects. *Law and Human Behavior*, *21*, 283-297.
- Steblay, N. K., Dysart, J., Fulero, S., & Lindsay, R. C. L. (2001). Eyewitness accuracy rates in sequential and simultaneous lineup presentations: A metaanalytic comparison. *Law and Human Behavior*, 25, 459-473. doi: 10.1023/ A:1012888715007
- Steblay, N. K., Dysart, J. E., & Wells, G. L. (2011). Seventy-two tests of the sequential lineup superiority effect: A meta-analysis and policy discussion. *Psychology, Public Policy and Law, 17*, 99-139. doi: 10.1037/A0021650
- Steblay, & Phillips, J. D. (2011). The not-sure response option in sequential lineup practice. Applied Cognitive Psychology, 25, 768-774. doi: 10.1002/Acp.1755
- Steele, C. M., & Josephs, R. A. (1990). Alcohol myopia. Its prized and dangerous effects. *American Psychologist*, 45, 921-933. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.45.8.921

- Söderlund, H., Parker, E. S., Schwartz, B. L., & Tulving, E. (2005). Memory encoding and retrieval on the ascending and descending limbs of the blood alcohol concentration curve. *Psychopharmacology*, *182*, 305-317. doi: 10.1007/s00213-005-0096-2
- Tollestrup, P. A., Turtle, J. W., & Yuille, J. C. (Eds.). (1994). Actual victims and witnesses to robbery and fraud: An archival analysis. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Townshend, J. M., Kambouropoulos, N., Griffin, A., Hunt, F. J., Milani, R. M. (2014). Binge drinking, reflection impulsivity, and unplanned sexual behavior: Impaired decision-making in young social drinkers. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1111/acer.12333
- Tracy, J. I., & Bates, M. E. (1999). The selective effects of alcohol on automatic and effortful memory processes. *Neuropsychology*, 13, 282-290. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.13.2.282
- Tryggvesson, K. (2013). Mot ett kontinentalt dryckesmönster, eller inte? Förändringar i svenskarnas alkoholkonsumtion mellan 1996 och 2005. [Towards a continental pattern of drinking, or not? Changes in Swedes alcohol consumption between 1996 and 2005]. Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 30, 249-266.
- Tucker, J. A., Vuchinich, R. E., & Schonhaut, S. J. (1987). Effects of alcohol on recall of social interactions. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 11, 273-283. doi: 10.1007/BF01183270
- Tyson, P. D., & Schirmuly, M. (1994). Memory enhancement after drinking alcohol: Consolidation, interference or response bias? *Physiological Behavior*, 56, 933-937.
- van Oorsouw, K., & Merckelbach, H. (2007). Expectancies and memory for an emotional film fragment: A placebo study. *The American Journal of Psychology*, 120, 287-301. doi: 10.2307/20445399
- van Oorsouw, K., & Merckelbach, H. (2012). The effects of alcohol on crime related memories: A field study. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 26, 82-90. doi: 10.1002/acp.1799
- Weber, N., & Perfect, T. J. (2011). Improving eyewitness identification accuracy by screening out those who say they don't know. *Law and Human Behaviour*, 36, 28-36. doi: 10.1037/h0093976
- Wells, G. L. (1993). What do we know about eyewitness identification? *American Psychologist*, 48, 553-571. doi: 10.1037//0003-066X.48.5.553
- Wells, G. L., Malpass, R. S., Lindsay, R. C. L., Fisher, R. P., Turtle, J. W., & Fulero, S. M. (2000). From the lab to the police station: A successful

application of eyewitness research. *American Psychologist*, 55, 581-598. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.6.581

- Wells, G. L., & Olson, E. A. (2003). Eyewitness testimony. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 54, 277-295. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.54.101601.145028
- Wetherill, R. R., & Fromme, K. (2011). Acute alcohol effects on narrative recall and contextual memory: An examination of fragmentary blackouts. *Addictive Behaviors*, 36, 886-889. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.03.012
- Wheeler, M. A. (2000). Episodic memory and autonetic awarness. In E. Tulving, & F. I. : Craik (Eds). *The Oxford Handbook of Memory*. (pp. 597). New York, NY: Oxford University Press Inc.
- White, A. M. (2003). What happened? Alcohol, memory blackouts, and the brain. *Alcohol, Research and Health*, *27*, 186-196.
- White, A. M., Matthews, D. B., & Best, P. J. (2000). Ethanol, memory, and hippocampal function: A review of recent findings. *Hippocampus*, 10, 88-93. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(2000)10:1<88::AID-HIPO10>3.0.CO;2-L
- Yarmey, A. D. (2004). Eyewitness recall and photo identification: A field experiment. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 10,* 53-68. doi:10.1080/10683160 21000058379
- Yonker, J. E., Nilsson, L. G., Herlitz, A., & Anthenelli, R.M. (2005). Sex differences in spatial visualization and episodic memory as a function of alcohol consumption. *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, 40, 201-207. doi: 10.1093/ alcalc/agh141
- Yonker, J. E., Eriksson, E., Nilsson, L. G., & Herlitz, A. (2003). Sex differences in episodic memory: Minimal influence of estradiol. *Brain and Cognition*, 52, 231-238. doi: 10.1016/S0278-2626(03)00074-5
- Yuille, J.C. (1973). A detailed examination of mediation in PA learning. *Memory* and Cognition, 1, 333-342. doi: 10.3758/BF03198117
- Yuille, J. C. (1986). Meaningful research in the police context. In J.C. Yuille (Ed.) *Police selection and training: The role of psychology* (pp.225-246). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Yuille, J. C., & Tollestrup, P. A. (1990). Some effects of alcohol on eyewitness memory. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 268-273. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.75.3.268
- Öhman, L. (2013). *All ears: Adults' and children's earwitness testimony*. (Doctoral dissertation). University of Gothenburg. Gothenburg, Sweden: Ale Tryckteam.

Appendix

- I. Hagsand, A., Roos af Hjelmsäter, E., Granhag, P.A., Fahlke, C., & Söderpalm Gordh, A. (2013). Do sober eyewitnesses outperform alcohol intoxicated eyewitnesses in a lineup? *The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context*, *5*, 23-47.
- II. Hagsand, A., Roos af Hjelmsäter, E., Granhag, P.A., Fahlke, C., & Söderpalm Gordh, A. (2013). Bottled memories. On how alcohol affects eyewitness' recall. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 54, 188-195. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12035
- III. Hagsand, A., Roos af Hjelmsäter, E., Granhag, P.A., Fahlke, C., & Söderpalm Gordh, A. (2014). Stumbling down memory lane: The advantages of interviewing witnesses while they are still under the influence of alcohol. Manuscript submitted for publication.